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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Jim Gennaro.  I am Chair of the Council's

          4  Committee on Environmental Protection.  I welcome

          5  you to today's hearing where this Committee will

          6  hear testimony on two bills and one resolution that

          7  seek to improve public and environmental health in

          8  the City, and transform Brownfield sites from

          9  blights on the community to assets to the community.

         10                 As many of you know, a Brownfield

         11  site is fine as any real property that clean up or

         12  reuse of which may be complicated by the presence or

         13  potential presence of contamination, such as

         14  petroleum or hazardous waste.  It has been estimated

         15  that there are 3,000 to 4,000 acres of Brownfield in

         16  New York City.

         17                 Brownfields are a serious obstacle to

         18  revitalizing communities and economic development

         19  efforts, and the presence of Brownfield can

         20  represent health risks to residents of the

         21  community.  The Brownfield properties are often

         22  concentrated in moderate- and low- income areas, and

         23  also in communities of color. Places that can have

         24  long histories of abandonment, disinvestments, and

         25  environmental degradation.  Many people in these
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          2  areas suffer from disproportionately high incidences

          3  of disease, including asthma and cancer.

          4                 As many of you here today recall,

          5  this Committee held an oversight hearing on the

          6  City's Brownfield efforts last November.  And that

          7  hearing, as we recall, covered a lot of ground. It

          8  also spoke to a number of needs that we hope to

          9  speaking to today.

         10                 We heard from witnesses that the City

         11  under the very able guidance of OEC Director Bob

         12  Kulikowski, who joins us here today, has undertaken

         13  a number of very positive efforts related to

         14  Brownfield, and we certainly are happy about that.

         15  However, we also heard from witnesses that there is

         16  a need to institutionalize and to augment these

         17  efforts through a cohesive program and one based on

         18  a comprehensive plan of action.  This testimony gave

         19  rise to Intro. 567, a bill that I and Council Member

         20  Yassky are sponsoring.  Under this legislation, the

         21  City will be responsible for developing an overall

         22  strategic plan to guide its Brownfield efforts,

         23  something that we think is very important.

         24                 They will also make sure that the

         25  City is working with the groups that know best,
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          2  those groups in the community, with non- profit and

          3  for- profit developers to make sure that there is

          4  funding to provide adequate technical support, and

          5  to bring that coordination and to bolster all kinds

          6  of different approaches on an active and ongoing

          7  basis.  And also recognizing the vast Brownfield

          8  expertise that we have in the private sector, and

          9  also within community- based organizations, and

         10  among other non- governmental entities, Intro. 567

         11  will create a group of advisors that would tap these

         12  valuable resources to help the City create its

         13  Brownfield action plan.

         14                 Let me state that we think it is

         15  critically important to bring, you know, these kinds

         16  of groups into the process.  Certainly, they cannot

         17  dictate what the City would ultimately do, but we

         18  think it is very, very important to have them at the

         19  table guiding and helping to shape the City's

         20  actions on Brownfield in the future.  Given the

         21  economic and environmental significance of

         22  Brownfield to New York City, institutionalizing the

         23  City's Brownfield program supported by its

         24  comprehensive strategic plan and expert non-

         25  government advisors is clearly needed.

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 At our hearing last November, we also

          3  heard from witnesses that rather than facilitate any

          4  Brownfield cleanup and community reuse, the City's

          5  Tax Lien Sale program can serve as an obstacle.

          6  Such is the rationale for Intro. 582, a bill

          7  sponsored by Councilman Yassky, and co- sponsored by

          8  me, which builds on the City's third party transfer

          9  program.  This bill will make properties identified

         10  for community revitalization eligible for third

         11  party transfer program and put them in the hands of

         12  organizations that are in the community for

         13  redevelopment.  Such an approach will provide for

         14  more targeted disposal of Brownfield' properties,

         15  and serve as an invaluable tool for promoting

         16  economic development and affordable housing that is

         17  based in the community.

         18                 Finally, at our November oversight

         19  hearing we heard about the critical need to free up

         20  money promised by the State Cleanup Brownfields

         21  Program for Brownfields Opportunity Areas.  I am

         22  sure we all know about that.  The Brownfields

         23  Opportunity  Area program was developed to provide

         24  organizations like we have here today, real, true,

         25  community- based organizations, by themselves or in
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          2  coordination with other municipalities with funding

          3  to do planning of the redevelopment of Brownfields.

          4                 Unfortunately, the roughly 20 million

          5  of funding set aside for this program, including

          6  several millions of dollars that could go to the

          7  worthy community- based projects throughout our

          8  City, languishes in Albany because the Pataki

          9  Administration, the State Senate, and the State

         10  Assembly has not signed a simple Memorandum of

         11  Understanding.  It is a shame and an outrage that

         12  this MOU has not been signed.  So today we will also

         13  be hearing testimony on Resolution 795, and has the

         14  support of 26 of my fellow Council members.  It

         15  calls upon Albany to finalize the MOU and free up

         16  this critical needed funding.  It seems so bazaar

         17  that two years after the program has been put in

         18  place, the funding for it has been held up just by

         19  virtue of the fact that Albany can't come through

         20  with a simple piece of paper.  Certainly, we want to

         21  speak boldly on this from the Council and spur it

         22  into action.

         23                 These two bills and one resolution

         24  that we will be hearing today directly respond to

         25  the needs that were brought to this Committee's
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          2  attention at our hearing last November.  As such,

          3  they will make a very significant, long lasting

          4  contribution to the City's Brownfield efforts.

          5  Efforts that promise to transform unproductive,

          6  hazardous properties into engines of economic

          7  development for the City's neediest communities.

          8                 And with that said, we will call our

          9  first witness. Before I do we will recognize the

         10  presence of Council members who are here with us.

         11  We have Council Member Koppell from the Bronx,

         12  Council Member Vallone from Queens, and we will be

         13  joined by Council Member Yassky, who is the prime

         14  sponsor of one of the bills, and the co- sponsor of

         15  the other.  And we are grateful to have them here

         16  with us today.  Also we want to thank in a special

         17  way the staff of the Committee, Donna De Costanzo,

         18  Richard Colon, my own Chief of Staff, Peter

         19  Washburn, and worked very hard on one of the bills,

         20  Britton Marriotti, and Neal Dacromley (phonetic)

         21  from the Waterfronts Committee that worked very hard

         22  on one of the bills, as well.

         23                 So we will call our first witness,

         24  that will be Bob Kulikowski, the Director of the

         25  City Office of Environmental Coordination.  It is a
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          2  pleasure to have Bob as a colleague in government,

          3  also as a personal friend.  Well, I am the friend of

          4  anyone that, you know, gives their professional

          5  creative work on Brownfields.  But Bob, in

          6  particular, because he is a personal friend, and it

          7  was great to have you at our last hearing, it is

          8  good to have you here today.  And I am looking

          9  forward to all of the wonderful things you are

         10  saying about the legislative initiatives that we are

         11  putting before you today, not to steal anything from

         12  you there.  So thank you very much, Bob, for being

         13  here with us today.  Notwithstanding the fact that

         14  you are my friend, we are still going to swear you

         15  in, like we do with all our witnesses.

         16                 And we want to thank Chris Manning,

         17  as always, for helping us put these hearings on the

         18  road.

         19                 Donna.

         20                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         21  right hand?  In the testimony you are about to give

         22  do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole

         23  truth, and nothing but the truth?

         24                 ALL:  I do.

         25                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  And

          3  if I could just call to the Sergeants, is there any

          4  way to turn down these lights, we are absolutely

          5  baking.  Who is too warm in here?  Okay, they are

          6  even in the back they are too warm.  So anything we

          7  can do to turn the lights down a little bit, that

          8  would be great.

          9                 Sorry about that, I am just trying to

         10  keep us all cool here.

         11                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Sure, no problem.

         12  Well thank you for those kind words, Council member.

         13    And good afternoon, Council Member Gennaro,

         14  members of the Committee, my name is Robert

         15  Kulikowski, and I am the Director of the New York

         16  City Office of Environmental Coordination.  Thank

         17  you for the invitation to testify on these

         18  Brownfield bills.

         19                 I would like to begin by stating in

         20  no uncertain terms that the Administration shares

         21  the Council's goal of redeveloping Brownfield

         22  properties and ensuring community input in the

         23  process.  I think this has been demonstrated over

         24  the past several years.

         25  As I testified at the Brownfield Oversight Hearing
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          2  on November 18th, 2004, OEC, the Office of

          3  Environmental Coordination, is the agency

          4  responsible for coordinating the City's Brownfield

          5  efforts, including those of other agencies that are

          6  involved with Brownfields to ensure as much synergy

          7  and consistency as possible citywide.  These

          8  agencies include the New York City Economic

          9  Development Corporation, the Department of

         10  Environmental Protection, Housing Preservation and

         11  Development, Parks, City Planning, Health and Mental

         12  Hygiene and the Law Department.  By working together

         13  this core group of agencies advances the City's

         14  basic goals of its Brownfields program, protecting

         15  the health and the environment, promoting economic

         16  development, and promoting sustainable reuse of an

         17  important City resource.

         18                 While Brownfields are often located

         19  in historically industrial areas such as waterfronts

         20  and transportation corridors, in New York City

         21  Brownfields are not necessarily confined to such

         22  areas.  The current federal definition of Brownfield

         23  is extremely broad.  Basically, any real property

         24  the expansion, redevelopment, or reuse of which may

         25  be complicated by the presence or potential presence
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          2  of a  hazardous substance, pollutant, or

          3  contaminant. However, I must point out, not all

          4  vacant or under- utilized properties are

          5  Brownfields.

          6                 With regard to the proposals before

          7  you today, as I have previously stated, the

          8  Administration shares the Council's goal of

          9  redeveloping Brownfields and encouraging community

         10  involvement in doing so.  However, we are concerned

         11  that the strategies outlined in these bills may not

         12  be appropriate for achieving this goal.  More

         13  specifically, regarding the definitions in the bill,

         14  it is important to note that the current State and

         15  Federal definitions in the bill it is important to

         16  note that the current Federal and State definitions

         17  of Brownfield differs slightly.

         18                 Intro. 567 defines Brownfield in

         19  accordance with the federal definition, but Intro.

         20  582 uses the definition that more closely tracks

         21  that of the State.  The City should use the State's

         22  definition consistently.  As discussed during last

         23  November's hearing, the Brownfield's program

         24  elements identified in Intro. 567 are already being

         25  addressed by OEC.  Our office freely provides
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          2  information to any member of the public about

          3  Brownfields' funding, planning, networking,

          4  governmental resources, and educational programs

          5  through forum such as our web site and our email

          6  lists.

          7                 Presentations at events and answering

          8  public inquiries.  We have never turned down a

          9  request to speak to academic, community,

         10  environmental, or business groups or any others.

         11  While we are pleased to share information and make

         12  referrals, OEC is not set up to provide outside

         13  consultant services.

         14                 I would like to draw the distinction

         15  between offering information to anyone who asks, and

         16  officially endorsing particular projects or

         17  supplying the extensive technical assistance.

         18  Providing wholesale support to every proposal of any

         19  community group, not- for- profit, for- profit

         20  developer or government agency involved in

         21  Brownfields is not practical or wise.  Groups

         22  sometimes have conflicting agendas and different

         23  levels of expertise.  Certain programs, such as the

         24  State's BOA grants, do require that the City supply

         25  a letter of support for community initiated
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          2  applications.  In these cases, OEC consults with

          3  City agencies working in these areas about the

          4  merits of the proposals. In many other situations,

          5  the City does not have a defined role in the

          6  process.

          7                 Both bills proposed the creation of a

          8  Brownfields Advisory Committee of eleven independent

          9  members.  We view this as problematic since the

         10  advisory board will likely prove unwieldy and

         11  ineffective.  OEC's prior experience with Brownfield

         12  Committees comprised of stakeholders with disparate

         13  points of view is that it is difficult to achieve

         14  consensus.  Moreover, the City's Law Department has

         15  advised me that creation of such an advisory board

         16  through statute would be a curtailment of the

         17  Mayor's executive powers.

         18                 OEC has two staff members that work

         19  full time on Brownfields.  While we currently

         20  advance Brownfields' revitalization in numerous

         21  ways, we do not have the resources to coordinate all

         22  Brownfield revitalization efforts among community

         23  groups, nor to support the proposed advisory

         24  committee.  We would, however, be glad to brief the

         25  Council on a periodic basis about our activities,
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          2  initiatives, and accomplishments.

          3                 With respect to Intro. 582, the Tax

          4  Lien Bill, this bill is well intentioned, but its

          5  core proposal to make revitalization properties

          6  available to community- based organizations is

          7  inefficient, is unlikely to result in remediation of

          8  seriously contaminated sites, and undercuts the

          9  City's successful tax lien program.

         10                 The bill has a number of flaws.

         11  First, it fails to provide real answers to the tough

         12  issue of attracting both human and financial

         13  resources to tackle the complex remediation issues

         14  at Brownfield sites.  I am skeptical that there are

         15  substantial numbers of not- for- profit developers

         16  that have real experience dealing with contaminated

         17  properties.  Some of the properties in the City's

         18  Tax Lien program are on the State Department of

         19  Environmental Conservation's list of inactive,

         20  hazardous waste sites.  CBOs aligned with non-

         21  profit or for- profit developers are not often the

         22  most qualified entities to remediate such sites.

         23                 Second, the bill fails to provide the

         24  parties involved, including the DEP Commissioner,

         25  the proposed advisory board, the third party's CBOs

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  and developers with any information about the

          3  subsurface conditions at each site.  Without detail

          4  site specific Phase II information about

          5  contaminated properties, parties who are awarded

          6  these sites under Intro. 582 do not know the

          7  environmental liability they face, or the cost to

          8  clean up the site, which may prove to be extensive.

          9                 Third, the bill proposes to remove

         10  many properties from the City's successful tax lien

         11  sale program.  The Administration believes this to

         12  be unwise.  First, the Tax Lien Sale program enacted

         13  by the City Council in 1996, and renewed since then

         14  has been very successful as the City's only real

         15  property tax enforcement mechanism.  The delinquency

         16  rate has fallen from almost 5 percent in 1995 to

         17  under two and a half percent in 2004.  While the

         18  strength and local real estate markets has

         19  contributed to this record in recent years, the

         20  fallen delinquency rate started abruptly with the

         21  commencement of the Lien Sale Program.  Any

         22  alteration to this highly successful program has to

         23  be carefully evaluated to ensure there are no

         24  unintended consequences that may impact the

         25  program's core purpose.
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          2                 Second, the Tax Lien program is

          3  working well in restoring moderately contaminated

          4  sites to productive use and placing them back on the

          5  tax rolls.  The lien servicers who manage the tax

          6  liens after the City sells the liens to the trusts

          7  have a solid record of collecting back taxes on

          8  properties with environmental risk, and placing

          9  these sites back into productive use.  For example,

         10  since 1996 one lien servicer has recovered back

         11  taxes on 2,282 liens on City properties with

         12  contamination, 2,039 of these liens, or nearly 90

         13  percent on garages, gas stations, and industrial

         14  properties were redeemed in response to the start of

         15  the foreclosure process.  Another 243 gas stations,

         16  garages, and industrial properties were sold at the

         17  court house steps or through sealed bids.

         18                 At the same time, the Administration

         19  recognizes that a relative handful of tax delinquent

         20  sites are seriously contaminated.  The

         21  Administration is currently working to identify

         22  these sites and address this issue.  We are, again,

         23  going to brief the Council on a periodic basis on

         24  the progress of these efforts. Further, the bill

         25  requires the DEP Commissioner and the Advisory Board
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          2  to make Land Use decisions.  This usurps the role of

          3  the Department of City Planning.

          4                 Finally, we believe these bills may

          5  be premature in light of several recent developments

          6  at the state level. Particularly the state's new

          7  Brownfield cleanup or BCP program.  It is not clear

          8  that these new Brownfield tools will not provide

          9  sufficient incentives, primarily through tax

         10  credits.  To induce developers to remediate

         11  Brownfield properties.

         12                 To date, there have been applications

         13  for 71 sites in New York City to participate in the

         14  BCP, and the State Department of Environmental

         15  Conservation has accepted 45 of these (39

         16  transitioning from the Administrative Voluntary

         17  Cleanup program, or DCP, and six BCP applications)

         18  into the BCP.  The remaining 26 applications are

         19  still pending as the state attempts to finalize its

         20  eligibility guidelines.

         21                 No site has yet completed clean up

         22  under the new state program, obtained a Certificate

         23  of Completion, and earned state tax credits.  The

         24  BCP may be a significant tool in addressing

         25  environmentally impaired City tax delinquent sites,
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          2  but it is still too early to tell.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  comment and I will be happy to answer any questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          6  Thank you, Bob. We are joined by Council Member

          7  Gallagher, a member of this Committee from Queens.

          8                 Thank you, Bob, yes, thank you for

          9  your comprehensive testimony.  I am just going

         10  through your statement, some of the details that you

         11  provided about the definition of 582 versus 567 is,

         12  you know, duly noted, and we appreciate that.

         13                 But with regard to your statement

         14  about, you know, working with the community groups,

         15  and you know clearly it is, you know, we never

         16  indicated that you had turned down a request to meet

         17  with groups and to sort of get the word out there,

         18  and we certainly do appreciate that.  But we are

         19  trying to figure out a way to set a paradigm in

         20  place by working, you know, with the community

         21  groups that can lead to progress on Brownfield's

         22  issues, and I think that there is a way to do that.

         23  I know that other areas are doing that, and when I

         24  go East of here to Nassau County there is a lot of

         25  robust Brownfield activity.  And you know funds that
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          2  they are getting from government, and we believe

          3  that these measures that we are putting forward

          4  today can help in that.

          5                 And I think we are going to hear

          6  testimony today to support that.  And this is really

          7  the overall intent of what we are trying to do here.

          8    Particularly, from the point of view of, you know,

          9  my bill, which to create this structure and this

         10  program to make sure that every possible thing that

         11  can be done, and every viable participant gets

         12  someone who has something to say on this can be

         13  brought to the table.  Because this process of doing

         14  Brownfield development is such a, you know, melange

         15  of different individuals that have to come to the

         16  table and like work with each other.  And this is

         17  what we are trying to, you know, to do here to move

         18  it forward, and that would be my statement.

         19                 And I have some prepared questions

         20  for you that I hope that you can speak to.  Bob, how

         21  many times per year, if at all, do you meet with

         22  community- based organizations and the Brownfields'

         23  stakeholders regarding the City's current

         24  Brownfields' efforts?  And this is separate and

         25  apart from requests that are made to you.  Is there
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          2  an ongoing, orchestrated, round- table kind of

          3  process that you follow in trying to develop

          4  Brownfields in the City?

          5                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I have to answer

          6  that no, we don't have a regular, community round-

          7  table organization.  However, there are a number of

          8  reasons, I believe for that, and that is that

          9  because, as I mentioned earlier, not every under-

         10  utilized site in the City is a Brownfield, and under

         11  either the federal or the state definition, and

         12  there are a number of properties that for whatever

         13  reason just may not be ripe for development.

         14                 To go through the City and assess

         15  community- by community what is there, and how we

         16  can best help that particular, and let's just for

         17  argument sake say geographic area at this point, has

         18  really been much to resource of intensive for us, we

         19  just don't have, I just don't have the staff to do

         20  that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well if you had

         22  a larger staff, do you think that would be something

         23  that could, you know, help, get Brownfields going a

         24  little, would that spur Brownfield development in

         25  the City?
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          2                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I am sure, I think

          3  anything we can do will help get Brownfields

          4  redeveloped.  I am just saying that given the

          5  priorities that we have and knowing that there are a

          6  number of sites that we are definitely aware of that

          7  are Brownfields, and to go back and try to recreate,

          8  or fill in the gaps of the information that the City

          9  at large has on properties throughout the five

         10  boroughs an Herculean task that we just don't have

         11  the resources to do, to undertake.

         12                 You know, it is something that we are

         13  very cognizant of and we are trying to work with

         14  Finance and looking at, you know, a vacant property

         15  may or may not be a Brownfield, and it may or may

         16  not be contaminated.  Or if it is contaminated,

         17  there are a number of sites in the City where the

         18  contamination is not an impediment to redevelopment.

         19    So it classically would not be a Brownfield,

         20  legally.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.  Is

         22  there some kind of, like overall, an overall

         23  strategic plan, you know, written down that covers

         24  the areas and concerns that are spoken to in my

         25  bill, you know, 567?  I mean what I am looking for
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          2  is that here we are in 2005, and this is where we

          3  could possibly be in 2009, 2010, these are the

          4  various funding streams that are available, here is

          5  how our maximizing our ability to sort of tap into

          6  them, like a real strategic plan for, you know, how

          7  your office and how the City, in general, is going

          8  to spur economic development through Brownfields

          9  development.  Where is that with actual goals, like

         10  here it is, this is what we can realistically

         11  accomplish, you know, with the current landscape

         12  that we have here, with the new State Brownfields

         13  Law, with all the various resources, on the, you

         14  know, local, state, and federal government that we

         15  have at our disposal.  And this is what, we think

         16  that this is a viable plan for what Brownfields can

         17  do and be in New York City, written down on a piece

         18  of paper?

         19                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Written down on a

         20  piece of paper, no.  It is something that we are

         21  certainly cognizant of.  One of the problems that we

         22  see is that tuning funding streams that you

         23  mentioned, both the State and the Federal government

         24  are, there is no guarantee.  In other words, you

         25  know every year we don't get an allotment from the
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          2  federal government that says, hey, you know you guys

          3  get, you know, a half a million dollars.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, but like

          5  right now, for example, Nassau is getting more money

          6  than we do, and Nassau has nowhere near the

          7  population, nowhere near like the number of

          8  Brownfield opportunities like that we have.  And it

          9  is like we are taking a licking from our neighbors

         10  to the east.

         11                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  We may call on you

         12  for your help with EPA then.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What is that?

         14                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  We may call on you

         15  for some help with the EPA then.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That would be -

         17   -

         18                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I mean they are the

         19  ultimate arbiters when you apply for a federal

         20  grant, and it depends on their funding stream, how

         21  much Congress has authorized for them to spend on

         22  the program in a particular federal fiscal year.

         23                 And we, I can speak to your issue

         24  about Nassau County.  Two years ago when we applied

         25  for revolving loan fund money from the EPA, both
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          2  Nassau County and the City applied for basically,

          3  exactly the same, and it was $750,000 for hazardous

          4  materials and $250,000 for petroleum.  Nassau got

          5  the full million and the City got $750,000 for

          6  hazardous materials.  You know, why? We don't know

          7  that answer.

          8                 And that the State level, 2005 is the

          9  first year that people will be eligible to apply for

         10  income tax credits under the Brownfield Cleanup

         11  program.  We really don't have any experience with

         12  that.

         13                 And as far as the BOA program - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Back up with

         15  that, about the, your last statement, people don't

         16  have experience, what was that?

         17                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  There has been no

         18  property that has gone through the entire process of

         19  the new Brownfield Cleanup program to date.  And

         20  only properties that will have finished the cleanup

         21  process, and we know that there are only, well,

         22  there are 39 that transitioned from the voluntary

         23  cleanup program, and six new applications that came

         24  in because of the Brownfield Cleanup program, and

         25  under the State Law that there just has not been
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          2  that track record of knowing what has happened and

          3  how much people have been able to get in the way of

          4  tax credits.  You know, we really need to probably

          5  wait another year to see how that program is

          6  actually going to work.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It just seems

          8  that in the City we are doing kind of more waiting

          9  than we could or should.  Maybe it is just

         10  frustration on my part, and I am sure you feel the

         11  same frustration.

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  There are, but the

         13  City is doing a number of things.  In Jamaica, in

         14  Queens, there is a corporation called West Side

         15  Corp.  That was the industrial dry cleaners.  And

         16  the City is putting up $11 million to protect the

         17  Jamaica water supply, and are working cooperatively.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, sure.

         19                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  It is probably the

         20  City's biggest Brownfield project right now.  Hunts

         21  Point, Berretta Point, Bush Terminal, Hexagon,

         22  Phillips Dodge, Sunlight Park, Public Place in

         23  Brooklyn, are just a few examples of the

         24  aggressiveness that the Administration has shown in

         25  getting Brownfield properties remediated and put
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          2  back into productive use.

          3                 Hunts Point, for example, EDC has

          4  spent over $14 million remediating properties in

          5  Hunts Point.  It is going to the site of the Fulton

          6  Fish Market, and it is going to be no cost to the

          7  City, because that will be recouped from Con Ed,

          8  which was the party responsible, or the successor

          9  party responsible for the contamination of that

         10  site.

         11                 You know, in my estimation the City

         12  has been extremely aggressive in not only applying

         13  for funding, which is a competitive process and

         14  there is no guarantee that we are going to get the

         15  money, but we have also been very aggressive in

         16  securing the money and making sure it is well used.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  How does

         18  you office, or the City in general track

         19  specifically types of available funding sources or

         20  Brownfields in making sure that all City agencies

         21  apply for available funding?  How can we maximize

         22  that?  How can we be sure that we are maximizing

         23  that?

         24                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Well under BOA - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  This is like
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          2  part of the whole strategic plan, which gets to the

          3  whole reason of my bill.

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  There are federal

          5  funding, the applications are, there is a specific

          6  funding cycle that where applications are due in at

          7  the end of the calendar year, they are usually due

          8  in late November, December, and this is a set cycle

          9  with EPA.  Funding decisions are announced in the

         10  summer, and it takes usually a year after that to

         11  set all the paperwork in place.

         12                 So, I mean there is nothing to track.

         13    We know that that is the applications deadline

         14  every year.  Lealon in my office routinely polls all

         15  the agencies that have Brownfield responsibilities

         16  or issues to make sure that any property that they

         17  have comes on board during that calendar year is

         18  basically vetted to make sure to see if it is

         19  applicable for that particular program.  If it is,

         20  then we work with the agency to put together the

         21  application and get them in.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And how many

         23  such applications go in on an annual basis?  How

         24  many being paired now, what kind of numbers are we

         25  looking at there?
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          2                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Since I have been in

          3  this office the first year, which was 2002 was, we

          4  submitted an application for the revolving loan

          5  fund, and for several sites in Brooklyn, the

          6  Broadway Triangle and the Atlantic Terminal Urban

          7  Development Area. Subsequently, in 2003 we submitted

          8  an applications, which we received $270,000 for

          9  Famariner's (phonetic) Marsh up in Staten Island.

         10  And this year the application went in for a non-

         11  descript, citywide pool of money to have sites put

         12  into the program, on a case- by- case basis, during

         13  the 10- year of the grant.  We haven't heard from

         14  that grant yet.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  It seems we

         16  that we have to do everything we can in that,

         17  because we always make a case about how, you know,

         18  Washington is robbing us blind, and we send so much

         19  more money to Washington than we get back.  And like

         20  those words, to some extent, ring a little hallow,

         21  if we can, sort of like mobilize our, you know, own

         22  City resources to ask for each and in every single

         23  cent that we could possibly be eligible for in any

         24  conceivable project, you know, we ought to be doing

         25  it.  And if we are not doing that, shame on us.
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          2                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I fully agree with

          3  you.  I mean my first career was an academic

          4  researcher, which I was supported by federal grants.

          5    So I know the real essential nature of having, you

          6  know, outside funding to carry on your work.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And this is why

          8  we believe, or myself and Councilman Yassky believe,

          9  you currently the sponsors of the bill for the

         10  comprehensive program.  And it is our belief that

         11  this would help us to get as many irons in the fire

         12  as possible, and in as many ways as possible, with

         13  as many stakeholders.  And we think that would make

         14  a positive difference, so that is why we are still

         15  inclined that way.  And we think it would help you.

         16  And if we have to talk about money for your office

         17  or whatever to put this is place or whatever, I mean

         18  that is always a conversation that we can have.  But

         19  we think it is critically important to do that. And,

         20  you know, maybe passing a local law for that, which

         21  would require the kind of staffing that you would

         22  need to make this happen.

         23                 And so I still see it that way, you

         24  know, notwithstanding your testimony.

         25                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I mean we are
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          2  certainly not at odds with you philosophically.  We

          3  would like to see there be zero Brownfields in New

          4  York City.  Will that ever be the case?  I don't

          5  think so.  It is certainly an admirable goal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Here, here.

          7  Council Member Koppell has a question, I recognize

          8  Council Member Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  It seems to

         10  me, and I am relatively new to this legislation, but

         11  it seems to me that the purpose of this legislation

         12  is to get, the legislation that deals with the

         13  City's foreclosure program, tax lien sales and so

         14  on, it seems to me that the purpose of the sponsors

         15  is to be sure that the property is getting into the

         16  hands of people who will be developing them both

         17  sensitive to the environmental consequences and also

         18  pursuant to certain public goals, such as the

         19  creation of affordable housing, for instance, or the

         20  creation of new industrial development.  And that

         21  the assumption, I guess, is that the current

         22  program, which, I guess, sells to the highest bidder

         23  may not achieve those objectives.  And you are

         24  critical in your statement of changing from the

         25  current program, because you are concerned somehow
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          2  that this will impeded the City's ability to sell

          3  these properties.  Is that correct?

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Well we believe,

          5  right now, that the City's Tax Lien program, which

          6  was passed by the Council 10 years ago, and

          7  subsequently renewed by the Council, is working very

          8  well.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But is it

         10  working to achieve the objectives that this

         11  legislation is intended to achieve, namely, that

         12  these Brownfields or that certain designated

         13  Brownfields are developed in accordance with public

         14  goals including community goals?

         15                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I would have to get

         16  back to you on that.  I am not an expert on the Tax

         17  Lien program, or the Tax Lien Sale program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I mean, do

         19  you understand that seems to be the aim of this

         20  legislation?

         21                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I understand your

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And it

         24  doesn't seem to me that the legislation requires

         25  that every property be removed from the Tax Lien,
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          2  the sale of tax liens.  It is only certain

          3  properties that would be identified as being

          4  appropriate for particular types of use, and

          5  therefore, should be developed in conjunction with

          6  these non- profit groups.  I think I am stating the

          7  purpose.

          8                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Yes, I understand

          9  your question. I just don't have - -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you agree

         11  that is the purpose?

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I would have to get

         13  back to you on that.  I will have to discuss this

         14  with my colleagues from the Office of Management and

         15  Budget and Finance.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  No, no, but

         17  do you agree that that is the purpose of the

         18  legislation that the sponsors have put before us?

         19  You have read the legislation because you are

         20  critical of it, so I guess you have read it.

         21                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  I have read the

         22  legislation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay, so do

         24  you agree that is the purpose of the legislation?

         25                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  It would appear that
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          2  is the Council's purpose.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Then what I

          4  am asking you, and maybe this you have to get back

          5  to me on, are there instances out there, and maybe

          6  others will testify to this later, where those

          7  purposes are not being achieved under the current

          8  Tax Lien program. Because as I understand the

          9  current Tax Lien program, it is basically selling

         10  the liens to the highest bidder, and then that

         11  person works to pay the back taxes.

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  That I will have to

         13  get back to you on.  I will have to discuss it with

         14  the folks that know the Tax Lien program at OMB and

         15  the Department of Finance.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay.

         17  Because I think, if in fact those ends are not being

         18  served, then I think something like this program

         19  ought to be entertained.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oliver, if I

         21  could, and Bob, if I could, we have Neal Cromley

         22  from the Waterfronts Committee, who has some

         23  comments that may inform the question and answer

         24  that you are trying to do.  Neal, if you could speak

         25  to that.
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          2                 MR. CROMLEY:  Thank you, Chairman.  I

          3  just wanted to add that the purpose of the

          4  legislation is to expand the class of properties to

          5  include Class IV properties.  But the City doesn't

          6  have to include those properties, they have the

          7  option to do so or not.  It is a may, which was a

          8  change from the existing program. That is just a

          9  point of clarification.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Did you have an

         11  answer to Oliver's question?

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  No, I said we would

         13  get back to him.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, thank

         15  you.  We are also joined by Council Member DeBlasio

         16  and Council Member Recchia both from Brooklyn, a

         17  pleasure to have them here with us today.

         18                 One last question for you, Bob, with

         19  regard to the resolution, the MOU for the BOA

         20  program.  What, if any, steps is the City taking, or

         21  plan to take, to urge the Governor and the State

         22  Legislature to execute the MOU required for the

         23  implementation of the State Brownfield Cleanup

         24  program, and funding through the Brownfield

         25  Opportunity Areas program?
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          2                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Well first of all,

          3  well I also, and the Administration believe that

          4  getting this funding put into place is critically

          5  important.  I mean the City is losing because we are

          6  co- applicants on two Brownfield Opportunity Area

          7  applications.  I speak routinely with the senior

          8  folks at the State Department of Environmental

          9  Conservation, urging them to urge the Governor to

         10  make sure that this gets passed.  Our State

         11  Legislative Office, also works with the Assembly and

         12  the Senate.  And despite numerous personal phone

         13  calls, communications, and seeing people in person,

         14  it is, you know, every time we have the opportunity,

         15  we say, you need to pass the MOU, we need to get the

         16  MOU signed.  You know, as far as writing a letter, I

         17  think you know as well as I that Albany is gridlock,

         18  and right now with budget season coming up, they are

         19  probably going to focus more on that then they are

         20  on other issues. It is probably one of the most

         21  frustrating things that we deal with, with the

         22  Brownfields realm here in the City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We certainly

         24  share your frustration, as do the many groups that

         25  have worked long and hard to put forward these
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          2  applications in the hopes that they have the

          3  opportunity to get funding and use the Brownfields

          4  Law and the BOA program, and are being frustrated by

          5  Albany.  And so we share your, as I said, your level

          6  of frustration, and will be passing out this

          7  resolution and sort of making our own statement as a

          8  body on this unfortunate situation.

          9                 But with that said, and no one else

         10  wishing to pose any questions to you, we thank you

         11  very much for being with us here today, Bob, and

         12  thank you for all of your efforts, you know, day- in

         13  and day- out on Brownfields.  We still think our

         14  bills are a good idea, though.

         15                 MR. KULIKOWSKI:  Well I thank you for

         16  the opportunity to discuss them with you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, thank you

         18  so much, Bob, pleasure to have you here.

         19                 And what we are going to do is, we

         20  are going to call out next panel.  Okay, we have

         21  Mathy Stanislaus of New Partners for Community

         22  Revitalization; Tim Sweeney of Environmental

         23  Advocates; Mark Izemon from the NRDC.

         24                 And as they are taking their position

         25  on the panel, we are joined by some members of the
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          2  UJA Federation of New York. We have UJA, some lay

          3  leaders from the UJA are here, they wanted to see a

          4  Council hearing.  Actually, let me just call out

          5  some of the names here, Sally Cooper and Irma Gowl,

          6  and Joan Gersler, Mira Goldberg, Bambi Granovski,

          7  Marilyn Grossman, Joyce Kowicki, Naomi Cronish,

          8  Joanna Leifer, Barbara Salmonson, Marian Salsman,

          9  Shelby Talber, and Janet Zuckerman, or maybe not

         10  everybody who is here. You folks are over there,

         11  right?  Okay.  I will tell you what, why don't you

         12  all come up here, we will take a photograph, and

         13  while we are doing that, Donna will swear in our

         14  panel.

         15                 We just had a meeting with the UJA

         16  downstairs, I will give myself a little latitude

         17  here, and I know it is not relevant to the hearing,

         18  but UJA is actively involved and do whatever they

         19  can, you know, for Holocaust Survivors, who are here

         20  in New York City.  Some of whom have, you know,

         21  poverty issues, and they are working with us and

         22  with the Administration to make sure that there is

         23  adequate funding to meet the needs of Holocaust

         24  victims' families and survivors here in the City.

         25  So we thank the UJA for all of their good works.
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          2                 You know many of the members of the

          3  Committee and the Council here have many programs,

          4  which are funded with support by the UJA, and we

          5  thank you for your work day- in and day- out, and

          6  for coming to City Hall today.  So maybe the members

          7  of the Committee here, if the people will come

          8  forward, we will take a little picture, and then we

          9  will proceed with the testimony, once we are done.

         10  So UJA folks come forward, show yourself, and get

         11  the recognition for the great work.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         13  right hands?  In the testimony that you are about to

         14  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         15  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         16                 ALL:  I do.

         17                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, UJA

         19  members.  I hope you have, you know, comments that

         20  you like the UJA as part of your statement, well

         21  let's see how good you guys are.

         22                 So thank you very much for being

         23  here, we appreciate all the hard work that you do on

         24  Brownfields and in many other issues that you work

         25  on day- in and day- out, and then thank you for your
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          2  support of what we are doing here today.  And I

          3  guess, Mathy why don't you start us off.

          4                 MR. STANISLAUS:  Okay, my name is

          5  Mathy Stanislaus. I am with New Partners for

          6  Community Revitalization, which is a not- for-

          7  profit organization that is co- directed by myself

          8  and Jody Cast.  The mission of the NPCR is to bring

          9  together diverse stakeholders to advance

         10  revitalization of New York's community with a

         11  particular focus on Brownfield sites in and

         12  proximate to low- and moderate- income neighborhoods

         13  and communities of color.  Jody is out of town

         14  today, probably fighting the snow and getting in

         15  back to town, so I am delivering the testimony on

         16  behalf of both of us. Thank you for inviting us here

         17  today to share our thoughts on the legislation.

         18                 We support the legislation that is

         19  the subject of today's hearing; and we applaud the

         20  City Council's leadership on the Brownfields issue.

         21  Here are our thoughts and our perspectives on each

         22  of the pieces of legislation:

         23                 First, Reso. 795- BOA resolution:

         24  The BOA program or the Brownfield Opportunity Area

         25  program is part of the Brownfields/Superfund
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          2  legislation that passed the State Legislature and

          3  was signed by the Governor in 2003.  The provisions

          4  were essentially crafted by NYC not- for- profits

          5  and environmental justice advocates to address the

          6  circumstance of multiple Brownfield sites in low-

          7  and moderate- income neighborhoods.  I would like to

          8  acknowledge the work of Yolanda Garcia of We

          9  Stay/Nos Quadamos, who recently passed away.  Her

         10  leadership in community based planning in Melrose,

         11  Bronx was a basis for the development of the BOA

         12  program.  I respectively request the Council

         13  recognize her legacy in the resolution.

         14                 The BOA program calls for an area

         15  wide approach to Brownfields and emerge out of a

         16  widespread of recognition that the obstacles to

         17  neighborhood revitalization that flow from the

         18  existence of multiple Brownfield sites are

         19  frequently intractable using the existing

         20  redevelopment techniques, and that a new formula,

         21  with new tools and resources needed to overcome the

         22  obstacles to Brownfields reclamation in low and

         23  moderate income areas and communities of color.

         24                 While the State solicited

         25  applications for this program over a year ago, no
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          2  funds have been available because the memorandum of

          3  agreement has not been executed between the Governor

          4  and Legislature.  This has been held up for two

          5  years.  The delay of money that is sitting in Albany

          6  instead of being put into the hands of local group,

          7  directly prevents the investigation and reuse

          8  planning of properties.  We applaud the Council's

          9  efforts on this, and Councilman Gennaro's leadership

         10  to spotlight the groups and neighborhoods that have

         11  the most at stake.  We urge the Council not to let

         12  up until the memorandum of agreement is signed.

         13  Moreover, we encourage the Council to press for a

         14  multi- year agreement to enable continuous funding

         15  that is not caught up every year in the State's

         16  budget process.

         17                 Next, I would like to address Intro.

         18  567, which we believe is a great step in the

         19  development of a comprehensive, structured framework

         20  to address New York City's thousands of Brownfield

         21  sites.  This would work hand- in- hand with federal

         22  and state Brownfield programs and resources.  The

         23  legislation parallels, the afterwards of the federal

         24  level approximately 10 years ago, to coordinate the

         25  resources and coordinate the activities of multiple
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          2  agencies to enable a coordinated response to the

          3  multiple of issues that exist at a Brownfield site.

          4  It also parallels the efforts of municipalities in

          5  other parts of the country to develop a structured

          6  program for the very purpose of bringing together

          7  resources and addressing the impediments and

          8  obstacles of Brownfield sties.  The coordination and

          9  planning set forth in the proposed legislation is

         10  critically important because of the history of

         11  disinvestment, which exist in the bulk of the

         12  neighborhoods that suffer from the multiple of

         13  Brownfield sites, so we applaud your efforts.

         14                 I want to specifically call out

         15  specific revisions of the bill, we believe:

         16  It will help to position New York City neighborhoods

         17  to take advantage of these new resources, both in

         18  City, Federal, and State Legislation.

         19  I will affirmatively address environmental justice

         20  concerns by focusing on the needs of low and

         21  moderate- income areas plagued by multiple

         22  Brownfield sites.

         23                 And it will provide more resource and

         24  more technical assistance to enable more and better

         25  coordination.
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          2                 Moreover, we want to highlight our

          3  agreement in the underlying philosophy of the bill

          4  of providing tools for the cleanup and redevelopment

          5  of Brownfield properties.  Basically, a bottom up

          6  approach, which is what New Partners has

          7  historically advocated.  What this enables is the

          8  local groups to plan, cleanup, and redevelop those

          9  properties.  It is not a top down process, which

         10  does not welcome Brownfield sites.  I just want to

         11  distinguish the government- based approach of

         12  Superfund sites, which is essentially a government

         13  driven process.  From the Brownfield philosophy that

         14  is the provision of tools for the local advocates to

         15  do it themselves, and we applaud you for those

         16  efforts.

         17                 We also applaud the inclusion of

         18  Brownfield advisory committee calling for a

         19  diversity of stakeholders necessary to redevelop

         20  Brownfield sites.  It is precisely this type of

         21  collaboration that is necessary to ensure Brownfield

         22  redevelopment is based on all interests, and in

         23  particular the interests of community residents and

         24  environmental justice.  We respectfully request

         25  membership on the Brownfield advisory committee.
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          2  Also, we suggest that a single advisory committee be

          3  established for the implementation of Intro. 567 and

          4  582, because there would be a tremendous benefit in

          5  development of each of these programs to have these

          6  discussions with these single advisory committee

          7  given the common purpose.

          8                 And I would concur that if resources

          9  are necessary for the City to implement this program

         10  that that be provided, because as the Administration

         11  has recognized, the only remaining properties for

         12  what a community needs, like affordable housing, is

         13  Brownfield sites.

         14                 And last I will conclude with my

         15  brief comments about the Intro. 582, the Tax Lien

         16  program.  There is an inherent link between

         17  Brownfields and distressed property, and property

         18  foreclosure.  When an owner believes that addressing

         19  contamination issues of a property will cost more

         20  than the property is worth, he or she will sometimes

         21  stop paying taxes and allow the property to go into

         22  foreclosure.  Consequently, we believe it is

         23  entirely appropriate to create a Brownfields program

         24  for these sites.

         25                 The Tax Lien program has an enormous
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          2  potential to impact community development

          3  activities, either negatively or positively.  We

          4  believe that Councilman Yassky's bill move this

          5  program in the right direction of enabling it to

          6  become an important mechanism for community

          7  supported redevelopment.

          8                 Intro. 582 promotes and embraces an

          9  area- wide approach to Brownfield sites.  It is

         10  specifically focused in those areas of the City

         11  where there are or will exist Urban Renewal Areas,

         12  Empire Zones, as well as these new Brownfield

         13  Opportunity Areas that will be created under the

         14  State Brownfields Law.  This bill would identify

         15  areas for community revitalization, and withdraw key

         16  parcels from the tax lien sale in favor of a more

         17  strategic disposal of the property for community

         18  supported end uses, thereby enabling and enhancing

         19  community revitalization. Rather than selling these

         20  properties through the traditional Tax Lien Sale

         21  program, which has fueled land speculation, windfall

         22  profits to outsiders, and displacement of local

         23  residents, this bill would rely on existing

         24  strengths of communities in which the properties are

         25  located.  By providing targeted technical assistance
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          2  and resources to develop and implement a reuse plan

          3  for these sites, the tax lien property can instead

          4  become a catalyst for revitalization.

          5                 And I would not that New Partners,

          6  along with a number of builders, bankers,

          7  environmental justice, environmental and community-

          8  based organizations, you know, letter to Deputy

          9  Mayor Doctoroff on April 15th, 2002, essentially

         10  called for a more proactive use of the Tax Lien

         11  program to address Brownfield sites.

         12                 Here is what we believe are some of

         13  the key components of the bill:

         14                 It is important that the selection of

         15  development team be done in a way that casts a wide

         16  net so that a range of community- based

         17  organizations are encouraged to participate.

         18                 It is important that the definition

         19  of eligible community- based organizations not be

         20  narrowly written to prevent newer community- based

         21  organizations from participating in the

         22  redevelopment efforts.

         23                 It is important that the community-

         24  based organizations have a demonstrated record in

         25  the community in which a property is being sought.
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          2                 There is a need for a public-

          3  private- community task force to help guide the

          4  development and implementation of the program.

          5                 The is a need for a strong third

          6  party intermediary that has the administrative

          7  capacity, such as a group like Neighborhood Restore,

          8  but that also has the planning and technical

          9  capacity to carry out the community consultation and

         10  to overcome the technical issues that are associate

         11  with Brownfield conditions and that such process is

         12  done in an transparent fashion.

         13                 We want to reiterate that this bill,

         14  that with this bill, the Council has the opportunity

         15  to transform the Tax Lien program from an obstacle

         16  that fuels land speculation to a valuable

         17  neighborhood revitalization tool that will promote

         18  community support of economic development and

         19  affordable housing. Ultimately, the gains from this

         20  bill will be greater to the City not only from

         21  community support of housing and businesses, but

         22  also because of the increase value from the

         23  improvement to the tax lien property will accrue to

         24  the residents and businesses who are currently

         25  operate there, instead of outsiders speculating and
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          2  fueling real estate prices, which also often results

          3  in the existing community being displaced.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          6  Mathy.  And then before we hear testimony from Tim,

          7  I just want to recognize that we are joined by

          8  Council Member Yassky, the author of Intro. 567,

          9  pardon me, 582, and once the panel is done with

         10  their statements, before we ask you questions, we

         11  will be calling upon Council Member Yassky to make a

         12  statement on his bill.  I just wanted to recognize

         13  his presence here.

         14                 And Tim, you are up.

         15                 MR. SWEENEY:  Thank you.  Good

         16  afternoon, Chairman Gennaro and members of the

         17  Committee.  My name is Tim Sweeney, I am the

         18  Regulatory Watch Program Director for Environmental

         19  Advocates of New York.  Environmental Advocates is a

         20  leading statewide environmental organization with

         21  over 5,000 members and partnerships with over 130

         22  local, state, and national groups.  Environmental

         23  Advocates played pivotal role in the passage of New

         24  York State Landmark Brownfield Cleanup Legislation,

         25  and it is a privilege to be included here as New
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          2  York City embarks on the development of its own

          3  comprehensive Brownfield program.

          4                 I would like to begin my testimony by

          5  thanking the Chairman for introducing Resolution No.

          6  795, calling on Governor Pataki, Senator Majority

          7  Leader Bruno, and Assembly Speaker Silver to execute

          8  the long- awaited memorandum of Understanding for

          9  the Brownfield Cleanup program and the exciting

         10  Brownfield Opportunity Areas program.  To date,

         11  there have been over 50 applications submitted to

         12  the BOA program totaling more that $10 million in

         13  grant requests, including several requests from

         14  projects in the five boroughs of New York City.  As

         15  you are well aware however, none of this money can

         16  be allocated to the BOA applicants until the MOU is

         17  executed.  I would also like to point out that in

         18  addition to the $30 million that has been

         19  appropriated thus far for the BCP and BOA programs,

         20  over the last two budgets the Governor has earmarked

         21  an addition $15 million for these programs in his

         22  proposed budget for fiscal year 2005- 2006.

         23                 This continued commitment to funding

         24  the BCP and BOA program is encouraging, but until

         25  the MOU is signed, we remain in the he unfortunate
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          2  position of having a landmark program in effect, but

          3  no money available for its implementation.  And

          4  while the parties have been meeting to discuss the

          5  MOU, there are no indications that an agreement is

          6  imminent.  Therefore, the time remains ripening for

          7  passing Resolution 795.

          8                 I would also just like to add an

          9  aside that Environmental Advocates has sent a letter

         10  to all three of the leaders, once again, calling on

         11  them to take action.  Giving them an outline of what

         12  we think would be an effective Memorandum of

         13  Understanding, as Mathy has mentioned earlier,

         14  perhaps a multi- year MOU that would do away with

         15  some of these, the potential for having us fall into

         16  the morass of the budget every year.  We have also

         17  initiated what we call an E- advocacy where we send

         18  out a letter to all of our members and other folks

         19  who have signed up for this program, and they then

         20  can generate faxes to the three Leaders in this

         21  case, to Senator Bruno, Assemblyman Silver, and the

         22  Governor. Today, we have 600 faxes that have gone to

         23  each of the three of them.  So hopefully, if nothing

         24  else, they will just get tired of getting faxes, and

         25  they will take action on this.
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          2                 Moving on now, Environmental

          3  Advocates commends the Committee on its thoughtful

          4  and through crafting of Introduction No. 576, which

          5  provides for the development of a comprehensive

          6  program for the remediation and reuse of

          7  Brownfields.  Given the complexity of the issue, the

          8  development of a program that will provide a

          9  coordinated approach to the remediation of New York

         10  City's Brownfield properties is essential.  This

         11  coordinated approach will increase the likelihood

         12  that community- based organizations in low- and

         13  moderate- income neighborhoods will take advantage

         14  of the variety of programs local, state, and federal

         15  that currently exist for the evaluation and

         16  remediation of Brownfield properties.  By

         17  facilitating the remediation and reuse of

         18  Brownfields, this introduction will provide improved

         19  public health, economic stimulus, and a cleaner,

         20  safer environment.  As the language in the

         21  Introduction states, transforming Brownfield sites

         22  from community blights into community assets.

         23                 Additionally, Environmental Advocates

         24  supports proposed introduction number 582.  By

         25  expanding the existing third party transfer program
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          2  to include Brownfield properties with excessive tax

          3  liens, the City will be providing an incentive for

          4  remediation of such property.  Additionally,

          5  requiring that the final use of such property by

          6  affordable housing, community services (including

          7  recreation centers and parks) or commercial or

          8  industrial spaces for small businesses, communities

          9  that have been blighted by the presence of

         10  Brownfields will now realize a renewed sense of

         11  pride and vitality.

         12                 Thank you for the invitation to

         13  testify, for introducing the MOU resolution, and for

         14  taking the initiative to put forth this

         15  comprehensive Brownfield program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you, Tim.

         17    Mark.

         18                 MR. IZEMAN:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         19  Chairman.  My name is Mark Izemon, I am a Senior

         20  Attorney with the Natural Resources Defense Council,

         21  and as you know, NRDC has been involved  - -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do you have a

         23  statement?  Oh fine, okay.

         24                 MR. IZEMAN:  I am sorry, I didn't

         25  have time, and after the hearing, I will type it up.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I just thought

          3  that if I had I would reference it, but I will just

          4  reference you.

          5                 MR. IZEMAN:  As you know, NRDC is not

          6  only an national environmental group, but has been

          7  involved with New York regional issues for more than

          8  30 years, and has been involved with legislation,

          9  has been with the Council for more than two decades.

         10  And we were also involved for many years in

         11  advancing the bill that ultimately became the 2003

         12  Superfund Brownfield Bill in New York State.

         13  We are happy to be here to offer some brief comments

         14  in support of what the Introduction and the

         15  Resolution, and we also want to applaud the

         16  leadership of this Committee in raising this issue

         17  and very other important environmental issues in the

         18  City.

         19                 We all know that done properly,

         20  environmental policy can be both an environmental

         21  winner and an economic winner.  We saw that recently

         22  with the recycling turn- a- round.  And when it

         23  comes to Brownfields, the opportunities are

         24  incredibly significant on both sides of the ledger,

         25  of cleaning up sites, as well as creating economic
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          2  vitality around the City, something that all

          3  environmental groups want to see.  But maximizing

          4  both the environmental good and the economic good

          5  requires close scrutiny by the public and by

          6  government officials, and by the Legislative Branch

          7  to ensure, that everything is implemented.  It is

          8  one thing to pass the law, it is another to

          9  implement it.

         10                 We support both the introduction and

         11  the resolution proposed by the Council, as I have

         12  mentioned.  In particular, we think that it is long

         13  overdue for the City, the Executive Branch to have a

         14  comprehensive plan, and how it is going to address

         15  the Brownfields problem in New York City.  Over the

         16  last five to ten years, as NRDC has monitored and

         17  watched this issue, there has been a lot of talk

         18  about putting forward a Brownfield strategy, but to

         19  date, none has materialized, at least, none that has

         20  been released to the public.

         21                 We don't think that there is any

         22  nefarious plot.  It is possible that it is simply

         23  other issues have gotten greater priority, or

         24  perhaps there has been confusion at the State level

         25  of what the program should entail, and perhaps City
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          2  officials were unsure of how to proceed in the

          3  absence of State Law.

          4                 But now that we have a State Law in

          5  place, and a landmark one at that, it is critical

          6  that the City have a proposal and strategy for how

          7  it is going maximize the funds available under that

          8  program, and how it is going to make, ensure that

          9  that passage of that law actually results in

         10  concrete good in New York City.  We don't simply

         11  just want to have a Brownfield law on the books, we

         12  want to be able to point to specific lots and

         13  specific areas around the City where sites were

         14  cleaned up, the public was protected, and economic

         15  progress was made.

         16                 There are three specific suggestions

         17  we respectfully advance today in any way to

         18  strengthen the Intro.

         19                 First, - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Which one?

         21                 MR. IZEMAN:  The Introduction, is it

         22  567.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  There are two.

         24                 MR. IZEMAN:  Yes, 567.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Intro. 567 is

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the program thing.

          3                 MR. IZEMAN:  I am going to focus just

          4  on that for a moment.

          5                 We respectively suggest that the

          6  final language include more detail on requiring the

          7  City to detail the problem. It is difficult to solve

          8  a problem and to lay out a strategy unless you have

          9  good facts about what the extent of the problem is.

         10  And we suggest that language be added that would

         11  indicate the number of Brownfield sites broken down

         12  by Borough, the types of sites that are around the

         13  City.

         14                 We recognize the sensitivity of

         15  listing specific parcels on any sort of registry,

         16  and we are not advocating that. But to have no

         17  requirement in the law to, at least, provide some

         18  baseline and some information on what the extent of

         19  the problem is, we think is an oversight.  We know

         20  that the Committee has thought about this issue

         21  carefully, and we look forward to helping the

         22  Committee find a way to craft language that

         23  addresses the sensitivities that developers, and

         24  community groups and others have, and that NRDC

         25  shares.  But at the same time making sure that any
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          2  report, or annual report that the City is putting

          3  forward actually has concrete information to the

          4  extent of the problem.

          5                 Related to this we respectfully

          6  suggest that language be added requiring the City to

          7  provide a report guard on sort of what is happening,

          8  how many sites are being cleaned up, what kind of

          9  sites, where are these sites located.  Again, to its

         10  credit the bill does have some language indicating

         11  that we would track sites being cleaned up that are

         12  using State or federal monies.  But the language

         13  there, we believe, could be strengthened so that the

         14  final plan, the final report put forward by the City

         15  be as useful as possible to this Committee, to the

         16  City Council, to the press, and to the public so

         17  that we really know whether we are making progress

         18  or not.

         19  Third, as important as the 2003 State Enactment was,

         20  one critical problem, or piece of the Brownfield's

         21  problem that was not addressed is cleanup standards.

         22    And the State's Department of Health and

         23  Environmental Conservation are now in the process of

         24  setting and beginning to implement that very

         25  important component. The State Law, let me be clear,
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          2  does not indicate what the level of cleanup should

          3  be for specific contaminants.  And as the State

          4  agencies developed those standards, it is critical

          5  that the City Council and the public be involved in

          6  the development of those standards, and it is

          7  important to know what the Administration's

          8  positions are with respect to those soil numbers.

          9  So we suggest that the language of the bill also

         10  have a requirement, or a section of that plan that

         11  would indicate what the City's positions are, and

         12  what it is advocating for the development of cleanup

         13  standards. This is a process that will happen over

         14  many years, because it will be new contaminants that

         15  will be added, new issues will arise, standards will

         16  be revised.  So it is not a one- time requirement.

         17                 Our review that some comments that

         18  the City had done last year in response to the first

         19  opportunity to comment on where the State was

         20  headed, with all due respect to the Mayor's Office,

         21  seemed to be a very, very limited review, and it was

         22  not clear for us that the positions that the City

         23  were taking would ensure the protection of the

         24  public health over the long- term in New York City.

         25  So it is absolutely critical that the public know
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          2  what positions he is taking and have that

          3  information available.

          4                 NRDC would also concur with Mathy

          5  Stanislaus' excellent recommendation that the

          6  resolution incorporate Yolanda Garcia and the great

          7  work that she did to advance this issue in New York

          8  City.

          9                 Let me, just very quickly, just

         10  address a couple of points that were raised by the

         11  City in its presentation.

         12                 First, with respect to the advisory

         13  group, there is precedent for creating an advisory

         14  group on recycling.  There is an advisory group on

         15  the right- to- know.  Indeed, I am an appointee of

         16  the City Council to the recycling committee.

         17  Although, I would suggest that the language could be

         18  strengthened to add more detail to specifically

         19  indicate the types of activities and reports you

         20  would expect that advisory group to do and some

         21  deadlines.  Because that will help all sides

         22  actually produce some documents out of the report.

         23                 Second, there is nothing in this law

         24  that duplicates the State 2003 enactment.  It

         25  builds, as we see it, it is a way of actually
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          2  ensuring that the City will implement that law to

          3  the greatest extent practical.  And there is no,

          4  just because the State has passed it, doesn't mean

          5  that the City shouldn't move forward on this law.

          6                 Three, with respect to Brownfields

          7  definitions I was a little confused.  The federal

          8  law and the state law are very, very different in

          9  the types of activities that it is regulating under

         10  Brownfields.  The federal law has a very different

         11  definition of what kind of sites are eligible for

         12  the program of the federal law.  The state program

         13  definition is very specific to different program in

         14  New York State.  So the fact that the definition

         15  here may be inconsistent with the federal law is

         16  really irrelevant.

         17                 And then lastly, I would just say

         18  that, again, with all due respect to the good

         19  efforts that the Bloomberg Administration is trying

         20  to make in this area, many of the objections to this

         21  law are the same kind of objections that you hear

         22  from almost any environmental bill that is advanced,

         23  whether it be procurement, on recycling,

         24  Brownfields.  If they don't, they would rather take

         25  care of problem themselves, and not have the City
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          2  Council enact laws.  But that is the purpose of the

          3  City Council, and the City Council has advanced many

          4  important landmark laws under the environmental

          5  field that have made a real difference in the way

          6  the policy is developed in the City.  And

          7  ultimately, the City Council and whatever

          8  Administration it is come together and work it out.

          9  But there is no reason that we simply need to leave

         10  this to the Executive Branch and hope that they will

         11  take care of everything.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         13  Mark.  And we have comments and questions for you,

         14  but before we do that, as I indicated, we are going

         15  to call on Council Member Yassky, the main sponsor

         16  of Intro. 582, the third party transfer, like what

         17  we have been calling the Tax Lien Sales Bill.  So it

         18  is a pleasure to have you here, David, and just one

         19  more way in which you have shown great leadership on

         20  the environment.  Got a lot of people very, very

         21  interested in your bill, and we are happy to hear a

         22  statement from you on it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well thank

         24  you, thank you very much, Chair Gennaro, and I want

         25  to say, first, I just want to personally thank you
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          2  for including it in this hearing, but really more

          3  thank you, as a New Yorker, for what you are doing

          4  with this hearing and with Intro. 567, which I think

          5  is truly important.  I do think that the help that

          6  the tax lien idea, you know, can fit in and be part

          7  of that.  But I just want to voice my very strong

          8  support for Intro. 567, and you know, pledge to you

          9  my support anyway I can to help to make it reality.

         10  Because despite the passage of the State bill, we

         11  still are not making any headway here, and I think

         12  that what you are putting forward offers some hope

         13  to do that.

         14                 Thank you, and first I want to

         15  apologize to the Committee for not being able to be

         16  here at the hearing, if there is anything you can do

         17  about traffic in Midtown, it is something that I

         18  think would be of great benefit to New Yorkers.  I

         19  left Upper Manhattan at quarter to one, and it took

         20  me an hour and a quarter to get here, which the

         21  realist I just don't drive, take the subway.

         22                 I understand, I know of the statement

         23  of Dr. Kulikowski here, and I am told about the

         24  dialogue that went on.  I just want to make sure

         25  that folks are clear on what this intended to
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          2  accomplish here.  We have a very successful program

          3  as you know, Chair, that takes residential

          4  properties that are on the owners abandon in effect,

          5  or are not paying taxes on, and rather than, you

          6  know, the City foreclose, we learned, you know, 20

          7  years ago that the City does not do such a great job

          8  as property owner, rather than foreclose and go

          9  through that whole process, we fine willing owners,

         10  particularly non- profits to do affordable housing

         11  and we get the property into their hands.  And it

         12  works very well in improving the stock of relatively

         13  low priced housing.

         14  We don't have any similar program though for

         15  manufacturing properties, and that is where the real

         16  Brownfield's problem is, of course.  We don't know

         17  how many there are, and Mark Izeman's point about a

         18  census, I think, is well taken.  It is a thought

         19  with complication, I understand, but there is no

         20  question we need better information.  Minimally

         21  though, we are talking about, it is at least 100 and

         22  probably several hundred properties.  We have

         23  identified well over 100 that are manufacturing

         24  partners owned properties that are in tax arrears.

         25  And given the New York State, the New York City real
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          2  estate economy, that those are highly likely that

          3  some environmental issue.  It is just that not too

          4  many folks that are going to let the risk losing

          5  their property in New York, unless there is an

          6  environmental issue there.  So it is at least a

          7  hundred, more likely several hundred properties.

          8                 Now here is the problem, sure it is

          9  easy for the City to sell off these properties, or

         10  essentially sell off the tax lien, which is another

         11  way of signing off the property.  What that means

         12  though in practice, is whoever buys it is not going

         13  to use it as a manufacturing property.  They are

         14  going to hang onto it, wait for rezoning, maybe push

         15  and lobby for rezoning, and hope that then they can

         16  cash in on what turned out to be a real bargain

         17  basement sale.  So if we care about preserving these

         18  as manufacturing, this is an intersection between

         19  the environmental policy and the industrial policy,

         20  if we care about preserving as job opportunities,

         21  then we need a third party transfer program.  And

         22  that is what motivated trying to do this.

         23                 I know that Dr. Kulikowski said in

         24  his statement, unlikely to result in remediation of

         25  seriously contaminated sites. On the contrary, what
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          2  we do now is guaranteed to not result in no

          3  remediation, rather results in land banking.  And

          4  there is no doubt that we can find, I mean, we have

          5  folks who do it, whether it is the Brooklyn Navy

          6  Yard, whether it is GMDC, there are plenty of folks

          7  out there, who would step up and say, okay, we will

          8  take it, we will take on the job, and we will keep

          9  it manufacturing to boot. So that is the rationale.

         10                 But Chair, I thank you again, so much

         11  for your leadership on this.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         13  thank you Council Member Yassky.  I just wanted you

         14  to give voice to some of the elements of the bill,

         15  you did a lot better than I could, of course. And I

         16  am happy to work with you to move these bills

         17  forward, and to create a renaissance of, you know,

         18  property development in New York City, that would be

         19  a good thing.  And so we are very, very grateful for

         20  that.

         21                 Now I will turn it to our panelist

         22  here.  And before I forget just make sure that you

         23  tell Jody hi for me, okay, just say hello and give

         24  her our best wishes.

         25                 And certainly, yes, we can have the
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          2  resolution amended to recognize, the issue of

          3  Yolanda Garcia and all the great work she did.  So

          4  thank you for telling us about that, and speaking to

          5  that oversight that we had.  And this being a multi-

          6  year agreement it certainly would be a good one.

          7                 And I just also wanted to thank you

          8  for your support and for your help.  To what extent

          9  do you think the City's current Brownfields efforts

         10  speak to all of the elements identified in Intro.

         11  567's plan?  I guess they say that, they don't need

         12  this, and we say we do.  And you know their plan

         13  perhaps better, you know their actions better than

         14  we do, and you know, to what extent do their current

         15  efforts speak to all of the eight elements in 567's

         16  plan?

         17                 MR. STANISLAUS:  I would say that Bob

         18  Kulikowski and his staff attempts to coordinate and

         19  respond when they can.  But the fact of the matter

         20  is a structured, coordinated strategy is the only

         21  strategy that is going to deal with Brownfield

         22  sites. Particularly because Brownfield sites come to

         23  the table with a multiple of issues.  It could be a

         24  tax in the one case, which impedes development.  It

         25  could be the lack of assessment in another case that
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          2  impedes development.  In some case, it can be the

          3  lack of planning that impedes development.  And the

          4  experience in other places, and it really is

          5  revealing when the federal interagency task force on

          6  Brownfields first got started, it became clear that

          7  they can look at it purely from an environmental

          8  perspective, they can look at it purely from a

          9  finance perspective.  They brought together numerous

         10  agencies to link everything from funding for

         11  assessment, incentives and redevelopment, the link

         12  with transportation infrastructure.  So I would say

         13  that from a comprehensive perspective, that is why

         14  it is crucially necessary.

         15                 It is not that the Administration is

         16  not making efforts, but the fact of the matter is we

         17  have all the agencies with various mission

         18  orientation, the absence of a coordinated Brownfield

         19  mission orientation I think has impeded the whole

         20  bulk of Brownfield sites.  And for me it is kind of

         21  interesting that the Administration has clearly said

         22  the only remaining properties to meet things like

         23  affordable housing, things like community facility

         24  are Brownfield sites.  And yet, there is not a

         25  integrated public strategy to figure out how you are
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          2  going deal with everything, from planning to cleanup

          3  to assessment.  You know, so that is a long answer

          4  to your question.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          6  thank you, Mathy. And with regard into the type of

          7  expertise that your organization has, certainly, we

          8  will keep that in mind with respect to what you have

          9  in your statement about the fact that you seek

         10  membership on the advisory committee that we wish to

         11  establish, and thank you for putting yourself out

         12  there like that.

         13                 And Tim, with regard to with what is

         14  going on with the MOU, certainly you have been a

         15  real champion of trying to get the MOU moving.  And

         16  do you, it seems that there, notwithstanding the

         17  fact that they are meeting on it, but there just is

         18  not progress being made, that seems like a worse

         19  assessment than I originally thought, I thought they

         20  were just like not paying a lot of attention to it.

         21  But if they got their heads together for a couple of

         22  minutes, like they could figure it out.  And it

         23  seems like it is more involved than that.  Right?

         24                 MR. SWEENEY:  It certainly is more

         25  involved in that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  If you could

          3  speak into the microphone.

          4                 MR. SWEENEY:  It is more involved

          5  than that, the last I heard, they are meeting.  I

          6  checked on this Friday afternoon to make sure that

          7  my coming down here, so I mean there is no MOU,

          8  would still be true.  And I was assured that that

          9  would not be a problem.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right.

         11                 MR. SWEENEY:  They are meeting, three

         12  are still some stumbling blocks with regard to what

         13  the MOU will look like and some other technicalities

         14  with regard to how much money will be spent on

         15  agency staff and things of that, which that funding

         16  will also come out of the pot of money that is being

         17  held up currently. So they are working on it, but

         18  there is no sign that it is going to happen soon.

         19  So I don't know what more I can tell you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  No sign that it

         21  is going to happen soon.  So that is to say, that

         22  there are signs that it is not going to happen soon,

         23  right?

         24                 MR. SWEENEY:  Right.  Although, I

         25  would caution that sometimes things in Albany just
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          2  happen quickly without you expecting them to happen.

          3    All of a sudden, they could just say, oh, okay, we

          4  have got it and here it is.  Although it would take,

          5  I am told, at least, two- or three- day turn- a-

          6  round after they do finally come to agreement to

          7  actually get it all --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, and

          9  these are talks between the Senate and the Assembly

         10  and the Governor's people.

         11                 MR. SWEENEY:  And agency personnel.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  I see.

         13                 MR. SWEENEY:  The agency personnel

         14  don't have a say, don't have any part in executing

         15  the memorandum, but they do have input with regard

         16  to how it should be crafted and what would work best

         17  for them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, right,

         19  right.

         20                 MR. STANISLAUS:  Jim, can I just

         21  address that?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Yes, sure,

         23  Mathy, go ahead.

         24                 MR. STANISLAUS:  The two apparent

         25  issues that have been raised, now I spoke to someone
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          2  on Friday, as well, you know, has been this multi-

          3  year agreement, and we believe it is nonsensical to

          4  have on the year- by- year basis when you are going

          5  to do planning that takes more than a year.  The

          6  worst thing for community planning and development

          7  is to have gaps in funding.  You know, the second

          8  issue is accountability, and we have supported

          9  reporting back to the Legislature for

         10  accountability, and that reporting back be based on

         11  the statutory criteria.  So we don't think the

         12  accountability issue that some in the Legislature

         13  has raised is a real substantive one.  We think it

         14  can be accommodated, and we strongly support every

         15  level of accountability in terms of reporting back,

         16  and reporting back specifically and including the

         17  possibility of a public advisory committee to ensure

         18  that the Administration is doing the right way.

         19                 You know, I understood that they were

         20  getting closer, but I think they need a hard push to

         21  close the deal.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  We will see

         23  what we can do in that regard to try to give it some

         24  inspiration, you know, along those lines.

         25                 Mark, with regard to, you know you
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          2  had some recommendation regarding language for the

          3  bills.  You know we would be more than happy to work

          4  with you to flush out what some of those language

          5  changes could be.  So I am happy to have you work

          6  with Donna and Peter Washburn to give us the benefit

          7  of what you think would be more robust language.

          8  And so I am taking you up on your offer.

          9                 MR. IZEMAN:  Okay, we are happy to

         10  provide those suggested changes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, we would

         12  be very happy with that.  And also with the cleanup

         13  standards that are coming, I guess in rulemaking or

         14  whatever, to the extent that you think I, or we

         15  could play a role in that that would be

         16  constructive, just let us know what that is, and we

         17  will take a whack at that as well.

         18                 MR. IZEMAN:  Yes, just to underscore

         19  that point, the 2003 Law left to another day,

         20  because of the complexity, the development of the

         21  actual numbers that must be achieved in the soil

         22  cleanup or water cleanup, and that day has come now

         23  as the State agencies who implement the statute now

         24  have to develop these specific numbers.  So it is

         25  incumbent upon the Council and the public to be
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          2  involved in that, to follow it.  It is very

          3  complicated, it is not easy, and it is easy, too

          4  often, it is not necessary the most sexiest topic in

          5  the world.  But it is very, very important that all

          6  the stakeholders be involved to ensure that the

          7  standards are protective of public health over the

          8  long term.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  And what kind

         10  of groups are monitoring that process, so you know,

         11  in the Environmental Community, Tim obviously.

         12                 MR. SWEENEY:  We are keeping an eye

         13  on it as best we can.  They have not yet come out

         14  with a draft, initially it was supposed to be by the

         15  end of last year, and then it was going to be the

         16  first quarter of this year.  And now the last I

         17  heard it was the end of April.  It is very complex

         18  as Mark had said, it is a combined effort of DOH and

         19  DEC, so there is a lot of interagency communication

         20  that has to take place.  But we are certainly

         21  monitoring it  And when they do come out there will

         22  be 120- day, at least, comment period, and at least

         23  three hearings statewide.  We already know that we

         24  will be asking for more hearings so that more folks

         25  across the state will be kept abreast.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Well, certainly

          3  let us know anything that we need brought to our

          4  attention.

          5                 MR. SWEENEY:  Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That would be

          7  great.  Mathy.

          8                 MR. STANISLAUS:  I would suggest, I

          9  mean taking on the entire standard making is going

         10  to be, I think, unwieldy. But there, the Council is

         11  going to focus on particular issues with respect to

         12  redevelopment of sites and Urban Center, Council

         13  should focus in on it.  That includes how do you

         14  cleanup historic filled sites for various kind of

         15  things from housing to parks.  And I am troubled

         16  about City agencies' views on some of that,

         17  institutional controls ensuring long- term

         18  monitoring and maintaining certain interest controls

         19  in a way that is transparent and enforceable.

         20                 If there is no other issue you focus

         21  in on, I would say, focus in on those issues, and

         22  like to follow- up.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, sure, as

         24  appropriate, if you, anybody, if you can see a way

         25  we could play a positive role in this process just

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  give us a shout and we will try to do it.

          3                 MR. IZEMAN:  Mr. Chairman, at some

          4  point it might be appropriate to have another

          5  hearing, maybe during that regulatory process,

          6  perhaps it would be helpful to have the Council ask

          7  some questions of the City and others on their

          8  positions on standards and institutional - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sure, I just

         10  wanted to, you know, open the door to that whole

         11  area to just let you know that I was open to that.

         12  And so staff is on notice that is something that we

         13  want to look into, and you know, work with them on

         14  that, and we would be happy to play a role in that.

         15                 Okay, so those are all the questions

         16  I had.  But Council Member Yassky has a question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well only

         18  with your indulgence, I appreciate it, I am not a

         19  member of the Committee, but I did have just one

         20  quick question.  I just want to thank each of you

         21  for your comments and your helpful comments on the

         22  582.

         23                 The Administration representative

         24  made, I thought, one good point about the difference

         25  between third party transfer in the manufacturing
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          2  context and residential, which is people, when there

          3  is a significant risk of environmental remediation

          4  people really don't know so well what they are

          5  buying.  Do you have any suggestions for how to deal

          6  with that.

          7                 MR. STANISLAUS:  One of these we

          8  recommended that the third party entity actually

          9  have the capability to do a hard look.  I mean the

         10  fact is there are examples of speculators who

         11  knowingly take contaminated properties, held it,

         12  even though local community group has wanted to

         13  assess and cleanup those properties. The fact is

         14  that it can be done, it can be done better, and I

         15  don't think it is correct entirely that

         16  contamination gets in the way of speculation,

         17  because I think that is going on right now.  I mean

         18  it is going on in neighborhoods that you work in and

         19  around the City.

         20  And later on today, someone is going to testify on

         21  specific examples, I think.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right,

         23  anybody else?  Okay, thank you, thank you, Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         25  Thank you, Councilman Yassky, and thank all of you
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          2  for all the work that you have done, and we look

          3  forward to continuing the great partnership that we

          4  have.  And give all our best to your respective

          5  partners in your organization, thanks.

          6                 And the next panel, Barry Hersy, oh,

          7  Hersh, okay, it looked like a "Y" at the end, pardon

          8  me.  Larry Schnapf, okay, I am striking out here

          9  today, Jonathan Springer, and Joan Byron.  While you

         10  are being sworn in by Counsel, I am just going to

         11  take a look out the window, find out how the snow is

         12  doing, a little weather check.

         13                 Sergeant, if we can have a fourth

         14  seat at the panel.

         15                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         16  right hands?  In the testimony you are about to

         17  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         18  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         19                 ALL:  I do.

         20                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         22  Thank you all for being here, we appreciate having

         23  the benefit of your views.  We are looking for the

         24  statements here, and anyone who has a prepared

         25  statement should give it to the Sergeant, and in
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          2  whatever order you wish, you can, you know, proceed

          3  with your statements.  But start by giving your name

          4  and organization, for the record.  Who wants to go

          5  first?  Okay, see what I am doing, right into the

          6  microphone, nice and loud.

          7                 MR. HERSH:  Hi, my name is Barry

          8  Hersh.  I am a Associate Professor of Real Estate

          9  Finance and Urban Planning, at the City University

         10  of New York, and Associate Director of the Neuman

         11  Real Estate Institute.  I also teach Brownfields

         12  redevelopment for both the USPA and New York State

         13  DEC.

         14                 After having been involved in for

         15  close to a decade to get the 2003 Brownfields

         16  Legislation passed, the fact that the most

         17  innovative part of it, the BOA has been held up, the

         18  word frustration doesn't quite capture it.  So I

         19  surely want to strongly support whatever can be done

         20  to get that resolved so that communities in New York

         21  City receive the funds as in the legislation.

         22                 I want to make a brief comment about

         23  the tax liens, I have studied the issue of

         24  Brownfields and tax liens, and I testified about

         25  that in November.  And I wanted to state the issue a
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          2  bit more generally, partly in response to Councilman

          3  Koppell's question.  When you run a tax lien

          4  auction, you get a purchaser, who is not just the

          5  highest bidder, but whose soul goal is maximizing

          6  the return of the property, whether you call that

          7  speculation or not.  And I have dealt with JE

          8  Roberts, which is the largest buyer nationally and

          9  in New York City, and that is precisely, and perhaps

         10  fairly their objective.

         11                 So that if you want a buyer, if you

         12  want someone in control of the property, or at least

         13  in control of the tax lien, who is interested in

         14  industrial retention, who is interested in

         15  affordable housing, interested in community

         16  development, then you have to follow a different

         17  process.  And so that is the opportunity.  And there

         18  are examples where that has been an issue that I

         19  know of outside, and you might here of some later,

         20  that are inside New York City.

         21                 I just want to talk very briefly in

         22  response to the other bill that proposes a way of

         23  dealing more generally with Brownfields

         24  redevelopment in New York City.  I think there are

         25  both issues and risks in relation to how you
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          2  coordinate Brownfields to redevelopment.  Every

          3  Brownfields project is inherently related to another

          4  aspect or to another agency, it is not just a

          5  Brownfields project.  It is Brownfields to housing,

          6  it is Brownfields to parks, and it is Brownfields to

          7  an excuse.  So if the City is involved, there is

          8  another agency that is going to be involved.  So if

          9  you are going to structure an overall strategy and a

         10  task force, it is important to realize that the

         11  ultimate development of that property is going to

         12  lie with a specific agency that deals with that

         13  issue.

         14                 The other comment I wanted to make is

         15  that to focus on the smaller in field sites that are

         16  more of the issue in general, than the large high

         17  value, especially waterfront sites, which are going

         18  to happen through private market forces.  But there

         19  are many smaller sites in communities, like Bushwick

         20  and the South Bronx, that will require more of the

         21  helping hand in the way of dealing with them, and

         22  that was part of the intention of the BOAs.

         23                 I have one other issue that I want to

         24  mention that has not been brought up, and that is

         25  the coordination between the Brownfield Cleanup
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          2  process and ULURP.  If you look at the flow chart

          3  for Brownfields Cleanup process, and then look at

          4  the standard New York City ULURP process, then you

          5  see a whole number of different places in which

          6  there are public hearings and other things.  And I

          7  can tell you from some national experience that

          8  there really is a benefit to having meetings where

          9  all aspects of a project, the planning aspects and

         10  the environmental aspects are discussed.  But there

         11  is also a real fear of going back and forth between

         12  two very complex processes.  So one of the things

         13  that I think that can be done is to try to have

         14  greater coordination and strategy between the

         15  Brownfield Cleanup process and the City's land

         16  meeting process.

         17                 And finally I will mention, and I

         18  have discussed this with Mr. Cromley, that our

         19  studies have indicated that the greatest

         20  concentration of Brownfield sites are on the other

         21  side of Newtown Creek, and that may be a part of the

         22  City that is worth a special study and a special

         23  look, and it involves industrial retention, it

         24  involves just a disproportionate number of the

         25  Brownfields throughout the City.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          4  thank you.

          5                 MR. SCHNAPF:  Hi there, I am Larry

          6  Schnapf.  I have been an environmental lawyer for 20

          7  years focusing on environmental issues in real

          8  estate and business transactions.  I am also an

          9  adjunctive professor at New York Law School where I

         10  teach environmental problems of business

         11  transactions.  I am coming to you today, basically,

         12  in that perspective as well as Co- Chair of the New

         13  York State Bar Association's Brownfield Task Force

         14  and EBA Task Force.

         15                 My formal statement has a preliminary

         16  section on how the New York State is not working in

         17  New York City.  If you look at the numbers that Bob

         18  Kulikowski had provided, we basically have 26 sites

         19  that were not transitioned, and of those 26 sites

         20  only six - -

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Do I have your

         22  statement?

         23                 MR. SCHNAPF:  Yes, I have handed them

         24  out before.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, I don't
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          2  have it.  No, this is Jonathan Springer.  Okay,

          3  okay.

          4                 MR. SCHNAPF:  If you look at what Bob

          5  was talking about only six of the 26 sites have been

          6  approved in the Brownfield Program, and the rest are

          7  in this cue, and if you talk to DEC, the reason is

          8  that they are probably going to get rejected.

          9  Tomorrow they are issuing new guidance, and if it

         10  reflects what the draft guidance was for

         11  eligibility, these sites will be rejected from the

         12  Brownfield Program.  And we have the perverse

         13  situation, where because the sites in New York City

         14  germinate so much tax credits, that the DEC is now

         15  looking for ways to exclude New York City sites from

         16  the program.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Would you go

         18  through that again?

         19                 MR. SCHNAPF:  Yes, the New York City

         20  sites have, because of Brownfield Tax Credit

         21  Program, the biggest tax credit is the tangible

         22  property tax credit, which looks at the value of the

         23  improvement you are putting on the property, not

         24  necessarily the amount of the cleanup that you are

         25  doing.  So because the projects in New York
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          2  generates so much tax credits, potentially because

          3  of the value of the buildings being put up, the DEC

          4  is looking for ways to exclude these properties from

          5  the program, because they are afraid that they are

          6  going to be having too many tax credits.  And I go

          7  into detail in my materials as to how that is

          8  working.

          9                 So I am just saying that the

         10  Brownfield Program on the State level is not working

         11  for New York City.  So this legislation is very

         12  important, and I support it and I applaud it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Does this help

         14  that situation?

         15                 MR. SCHNAPF:  It will in some sense.

         16  I think Resolution 567 potentially is a platform,

         17  which I will get to in a minute.  So I will like to

         18  turn first to the tax lien program.  I am in full

         19  support of this legislation.  I have, personally,

         20  had some experience and heard anecdotally from the

         21  oil spill funds about situations where the JE

         22  Roberts Tax Lien holders have actually been holding

         23  up redevelopment of properties because they are

         24  insisting on full reimbursement of their tax liens,

         25  cost and penalties, where at, on the basis they are
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          2  a fiduciary.  Whereas the Spill Fund, which is also

          3  a fiduciary, the Executive Director has been willing

          4  to compromise substantially all of the cleanup liens

          5  that they have on the property.  For example, in the

          6  Bronx, I am aware of, personally, is there is $2

          7  million Spill Lien on that property.  The Spill Fund

          8  is willing to basically compromise the entire

          9  amount.  But JE Roberts has a $400,000 tax lien with

         10  including interest and fees, and they don't want to

         11  budge on that. And the property cannot afford much

         12  less the full tax lien, much less the Spill Fund

         13  Lien, so it is upside down.  And I think that this

         14  legislation is an excellent vehicle to take these

         15  contaminated properties out of this process.

         16                 I do have some specific comments on

         17  the legislation, which I think would improve it,

         18  which I will not go into in the few minutes I have

         19  here.  But I will say that I think in the procedures

         20  for designating revitalization properties that would

         21  be a good idea for DEP to look at area- wide cleanup

         22  plans, like Jersey City has done, for example, where

         23  you can have one cleanup plan approved for an entire

         24  area, so that you do not have to keep going back to

         25  the State or to another regulatory agency for
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          2  approval.  That has been very helpful in properties

          3  in New Jersey.

          4                 I am a little concern for the various

          5  reasons people talked about before, the procedure

          6  for final judgement in relationship of

          7  revitalization properties.  I am really concerned

          8  about the redemption period, because you are setting

          9  up a situation potentially where someone can sit in

         10  the weed to property owner, let someone else do

         11  investigation work, perhaps get into the Brownfield

         12  Program and then suddenly now decide that they want

         13  to redeem the property.  And the property value may

         14  have actually gone up substantially because it is

         15  either in the program or it is some sort of City

         16  Planning involved.  The reason that these properties

         17  are upside down is because of the uncertainty about

         18  the cleanup costs and the time delays.

         19                 So I think we need to do some

         20  mechanism by which if the third party either gets in

         21  the Brownfield Program that the rider redemption

         22  gets cutoff.  Presumably that is a public process,

         23  the BCP process, you know, so that the third

         24  property owner will have those rights to know about

         25  that, so you shouldn't have any due process issues.
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          2  Or if you are going allow the party to redeem, then

          3  they should be able, they should also reimbursement

          4  the third party for the increase in property value

          5  that they have contributed to that situation.

          6  Because that third party took the risk that property

          7  owners don't want to, stood in the weeds, and I

          8  think that would be favoring the do- gooders.

          9                 I also think that the hundred- day

         10  period for taking steps to remediate the property is

         11  unrealistic.  The estimates are now that the DCP is

         12  going to take at least 18 months to get a property

         13  cleaned up.  So it might be that they have to submit

         14  an approved cleanup plan within a certain period of

         15  time, but I would not anticipate cleanups being done

         16  for that long period of time.

         17                 Turning to Resolution 567, I have

         18  always felt that New York City should take control

         19  of their Brownfield sites.  And I think it would be

         20  great idea if we could somehow expand the authority

         21  of DEP, basically by converting or amending the

         22  hazard substance and emergency response law into a

         23  Brownfield law.  Where we could basically give DEP

         24  more authority to do more things with sites in New

         25  York City.  Right now people aren't really, unless
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          2  you are going through a planning process like ULURP

          3  or SEQUA, most developers are not going to be

          4  concerned about New York City, they are worrying

          5  about the State.  But the State has not been our

          6  friend so far, I mean look at all the film material

          7  sites. I go into detail in my written materials

          8  about how the DEC's interpretation of film material

          9  sites are adversely effecting our sites.

         10                 I would suggest that we amend the

         11  Hazardous Substance Emergency Response Law to

         12  provide for a number of incentives for developing

         13  sites authorizing DEP to take certain actions. I

         14  have had experience with Waukegan, North Chicago,

         15  and Chicago as on the site of representing a

         16  landowner, and they have done some pretty innovative

         17  things on waterfront properties, creating Brownfield

         18  districts where they have essentially created, the

         19  Building Code became the cleanup criteria, and I

         20  kind of outline them in my materials.  But I think

         21  that there are things that we can do as a city to

         22  promote our own Brownfields.  It would be great if

         23  we could get delegation from DEC, like the State

         24  gets from the EPA.  Not being a person whose often

         25  public in government, I don't know how difficult
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          2  that is, but that would be a great thing to do.

          3                 And I would be happy to take any

          4  questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          6  thank you, we appreciate your comprehensive

          7  testimony.   Jonathan, right?

          8                 MR. SPRINGER:  Yep.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.

         10                 MR. SPRINGER:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         11  Chairman, and Council Member Yassky.  My name is

         12  Jonathan Springer, and I consult to the Furman

         13  Center for Real Estate and Urban Policy at New York

         14  University School of Law and Wagner School of Public

         15  Service.  I appear today as co- author of a report

         16  released a couple of weeks ago entitled, "Reducing

         17  the Cost of New Housing Construction in New York

         18  City: 2005 Update."  My remarks represent the views

         19  of the report's authors, not necessarily those of

         20  the Furman Center.

         21                 Our report finds that New York is the

         22  most expensive U.S. City in which to build new

         23  housing.  And one of the most significant drivers of

         24  the high cost of new housing is the high price and

         25  limited supply of vacant land.  From 1998 to 2004,
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          2  the amount of vacant land in New York City decreased

          3  by 5 percent, predictably the cost of vacant land

          4  increased at the same time. Whereas prior to 1999,

          5  no vacant land sales exceeded $100 per square foot

          6  since January of 2001, 17 percent of all vacant land

          7  sales have been for $100 per square foot or more.

          8                 Nearly a quarter of the remaining

          9  vacant land in New York City is zoned for

         10  manufacturing use, and it is highly likely that most

         11  of these 4,000 acres are Brownfields.  Brownfields

         12  are parcels of land that are, in fact, or are

         13  perceived to be environmentally contaminated.

         14  Brownfields often remain undeveloped due to fear of

         15  liability and cost of remediation.  Recognizing

         16  Brownfields is an important source of land for the

         17  development, in 2003 the New York State Legislature

         18  passed the Brownfields' Cleanup Program, which

         19  provides both liability relief and several funding

         20  sources to defray the cost of remediating

         21  Brownfields.

         22                 The bill proposed by both of

         23  yourselves, would facilitate the development, and

         24  here I am specifically speaking about Intro. 567,

         25  would facilitate the development of New York City's
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          2  Brownfields whether for residential, commercial, or

          3  manufacturing purposes.

          4                 As you know, the proposed Brownfields

          5  Bill would allow the City to transfer properties

          6  with tax liens of at least 15 percent of value to

          7  responsible third parties that commit to remediate

          8  and develop those properties.  This bill is modeled

          9  on the Third Party Transfer Program, which was

         10  enacted under Local Law 37 in 1996, is administered

         11  by HPD, and has proven an effective tool for housing

         12  preservation.

         13                 According to Neighborhood Restore,

         14  and shortly you will be hearing comments from Tom

         15  Ciano who is Director of Neighborhood Restore.

         16  Neighborhood Restore participates in the Third Party

         17  Transfer Program as a non- profit intermediary, and

         18  this program has transferred almost 300 buildings

         19  containing nearly 3,700 apartments from tax

         20  delinquent owners to responsible third parties.

         21                 Although we recommend that the

         22  proposed Brownfields Program mostly follow the

         23  contours of the Third Party Transfer Program, a

         24  couple of differences are noteworthy.  In contrast

         25  to the Third Party Transfer Program the Brownfields
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          2  Bill would apply to most classes of property as

          3  opposed to primarily property zoned residential, and

          4  would be used mostly for vacant or otherwise, under-

          5  utilized land.  Because of these differences, the

          6  potential income and expenses associated with

          7  Brownfields are both potentially higher than those

          8  of buildings in the Third Party Transfer Program.

          9                 First, expenses, because Brownfields

         10  are contaminated, environmental remediation results

         11  in higher development costs than for comparable

         12  green fields.  Any Brownfields program must

         13  therefore include sufficient resources to, at least,

         14  estimate the scope of remediation work required on

         15  each site prior to transfer to the ultimate owner.

         16                 Second, income.  Once remediated and

         17  developed, certain Brownfields may have the

         18  potential to yield rents higher than those

         19  obtainable by buildings in the Third Party Transfer

         20  Program, which tend to have low rent rolls.

         21  Depending on the zoning, a remediated Brownfield

         22  could be developed as affordable housing, luxury

         23  housing, a charter school, factory, or any number of

         24  uses.  Brownfields may be developed in ways that

         25  include significant public benefits.  These may
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          2  include physical amenities such as public plazas and

          3  other public goods, such as affordable housing and

          4  job creation.  Because of the potential for public

          5  benefits on former Brownfields it does not make

          6  sense to automatically transfer all Brownfields to

          7  the highest bidder without regard for potential

          8  public benefit.  Rather, the program should allow

          9  for the relevant City agency to transfer title to

         10  the third party with the best bid that takes into

         11  consideration public benefits to be provided.

         12                 To the extent, the City chooses to

         13  forego price maximization in favor of public

         14  benefits, it will be important to quantify these

         15  benefits and to enforced developers commitments to

         16  produce them.  The bill proposed by both of you is a

         17  good start. If City Council is able to craft a

         18  relatively simple program, model along the lines of

         19  Third Party Transfer Program, it takes into account

         20  the factors I just outlined, this legislation will

         21  play an important role in putting perhaps as many as

         22  4,000 environmentally contaminated acres in New York

         23  back into productive use providing clean land for

         24  much needed residential, commercial, and

         25  manufacturing facilities.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you, Mr. Springer.  Joan Byron.

          5                 MS. BYRON:  Thank you.  My name is

          6  Joan Byron.  I am now Director of the Sustainability

          7  and Environmental Justice Initiative at the Pratt

          8  Institute Center for Community and Environmental

          9  Development.  And prior to that, for 14 years was

         10  architectural director for the same organization,

         11  and have personally been architect of record for

         12  about $50 million worth of community led development

         13  of all types of property around the City, including

         14  housing, much of which came through, was built on

         15  in- rem property through HPD's various programs,

         16  including schools, including cultural facilities,

         17  including a day care center on a former dry cleaning

         18  site, and lived to tell about it.  So we and the

         19  community- based development groups that we work

         20  with and represent have a longstanding commitment to

         21  seeing a Brownfield program that is going to

         22  facilitate development of properties to meet

         23  community needs and to create public good.

         24                 So not to repeat what other folks

         25  testimonies has touched on, but maybe to comment on
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          2  a couple of things, especially Dr. Kulikowski's

          3  points.

          4                 First, certainly we support the

          5  resolution urging the State to speedily sign the MOU

          6  concerning the BOAs.  It was community- based

          7  organizations, including Nos Quadamos led by Yolanda

          8  Garcia and many others who made it possible to break

          9  the deadlock on Brownfields that existed up to that

         10  time.  And in the mix an important element of the

         11  process that brought folks to agreement was the idea

         12  that community organizations would have planning

         13  tools so that they could have a voice in what the,

         14  not only in cleanups, but in end uses for

         15  Brownfields and their neighborhoods.

         16                 So to say, that community

         17  organizations have been worked in this process would

         18  be the politest way I could put it. That they

         19  mobilized incredible, political energy.  They

         20  educated their representatives in the Assembly and

         21  the Senate, and so far, they have got zip.

         22                 On Intro. 567, we applaud you in

         23  laying out a program that establishes a mechanism

         24  for there to be transparency as well as a proactive

         25  and creative approach to the redevelopment of
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          2  Brownfields.  We don't feel that the creation of an

          3  advisory board is going to tie either DEPs or OECs

          4  hands.  We feel it is going to bring some important

          5  transparency and a diversity of perspectives and

          6  voices.  It is a great idea to make that a single

          7  advisory board for both the revamping of the lien

          8  sales program and the Brownfields program at the

          9  City level because it isn't, and if there is

         10  language in the bill that requires that Board to

         11  reach consensus on the implementation or moving

         12  forward of any project, that needs to be re-

         13  examined.  Because what we think is important about

         14  this concept, is that it is a place for different

         15  voices to be represented at the table in sort of

         16  delineating the blood vision, and seeing that vision

         17  carried out in individual projects. So it is a great

         18  idea, and I think the Administration has nothing to

         19  fear.

         20                 On the revamping of the Lien Sale

         21  Program, this is something that we have talked about

         22  and supported for a long time. We agree with

         23  everybody who has spoken to the point that lien

         24  sales as it is now carried on for commercial and

         25  industrial property promote speculation, does
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          2  nothing to promote cleanup.  It is a success only if

          3  you are counting widgets.  If you are counting, you

          4  know, the number of times liens are turned over, and

          5  perhaps, even the number of dollars collected on

          6  those tax liens, that is a very small view of

          7  success.  That is an artifact of a time when the

          8  City did not recognize the value of each and every

          9  piece of property in each and every neighborhood.

         10                 That is the Pratt Center and the

         11  organizations we work with, we have to give it to

         12  the Administration that it has a vision, unlike some

         13  previous Administration, we admire that the

         14  Administration has a vision about development, has a

         15  vision about land use.  We don't agree with every

         16  element of that vision, and that is where democracy

         17  and the opening of a window through an advisory

         18  board comes in.  But it lacks vision to say that the

         19  only thing the City should do with commercial

         20  properties that fall into tax arrears is turn them

         21  over as quickly as possible.  Various point, we need

         22  to make strategic use of every single one of those

         23  properties, particularly in low- and moderate-

         24  income communities, in the environmental justice

         25  communities that under the current regime are
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          2  getting the worst uses.

          3                 And we can appreciate that the

          4  Administration would like to kind of keep the cards

          5  close to its chest, and perhaps designate sites in

          6  the South Bronx for uses, you know, that maybe it

          7  would not want to see perhaps on the Williamsburg

          8  Waterfront, because it sees the latter as a prime

          9  development site and the former as an environmental

         10  sacrifice zone.  We think that that debate needs to

         11  be out in the open where people can weigh- in.

         12                 Thanks very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you all

         14  so much.  I don't have much in the way of questions

         15  for you, because your testimony was so

         16  comprehensive.  But we thank you for helping us so

         17  far, and to reaffirm that we are clearly on the

         18  right track with the goals of the bills that we have

         19  before us, and also the resolution.

         20                 Larry, I would like to thank you in a

         21  special for your, for all of the details you have

         22  put forward in your statement, regarding language

         23  and how it could be changed and tweaked, and we are

         24  very, very grateful for that.

         25                 So, I feel better now having all of
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          2  your statements. And we certainly wish to continue

          3  the, you know, partnership that we have set up.

          4                 I am going to recognize Council

          5  Member Yassky for a question.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

          7  Just on, I guess to fill out the factual record on a

          8  couple of things.  I have been told that sometimes

          9  JE Roberts doesn't, they will not take into their

         10  portfolio properties they know to be Brownfield or

         11  think they might be because, you know, then they are

         12  not going to be able to sell them off.  Is that that

         13  case, I mean, do you know of that happening?

         14                 MR. HERSH:  Yes.  You know their view

         15  is they look at a portfolio sites, you know, the

         16  best thing that could happen to them is they get

         17  paid in full by the owner.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right,

         19  because of that story that you told, for example, I

         20  thought was a very powerful story.

         21                 MR. HERSH:  Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I mean, then

         23  all the more so, I am just thinking of what the

         24  Administration position, even if you believe, as I

         25  don't really, all four of you have said you
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          2  disagree, that dollar maximizing return, you know,

          3  sale price, I mean, is the only consideration when

          4  we have a tax lien.  But even if you agreed with

          5  that, there are going to be places where JE Roberts

          6  doesn't want to take them, so those we ought to,

          7  certainly, at least those we ought to look at third

          8  party transfer.

          9                 MR. HERSH:  If you have a site that

         10  is contaminated, the risk is that the owner will

         11  say, I double- dare you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.

         13                 MR. HERSH:  You know, we dare you to

         14  take it.  In that case, they wind up with having

         15  paid for something that they cannot use.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  So for there,

         17  at the very least, again I don't want to be narrow -

         18   -

         19                 MR. HERSH:  Yes, I understand your

         20  point.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: - -  but I am

         22  just thinking about it.

         23                 MR. SCHNAPF:  That also assumes that

         24  they know that the property is contaminated.  So a

         25  lot of times, you don't know until you get it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well do you

          3  guys have any thought, that was one, again as I said

          4  to the last panel, that was one thing that gave me

          5  pause is systems work better when there is more

          6  information.  I am wondering do you have any

          7  thoughts on how to respond to the fact that the

          8  environmental, the remediation cost is a big

          9  unknown, how do you deal with that in a third party

         10  transfer situation?

         11                 MR. SCHNAPF:  I thought your

         12  structure was good in the sense that you are forcing

         13  DEP or someone up front to do some investigation.  I

         14  mean it is really all the appropriate inquiry under

         15  CERCLA, the uncertainty, you know, once you do, and

         16  I think that Bob's comment was correct.  You know if

         17  you find some, recognize environmental conditions

         18  during the phase I, when you know the properties are

         19  going up for tax sale, at that point, if you

         20  investigate the properties based on historical use,

         21  or a film material, for example, and you do a phase

         22  I and you find issues, and then you go to phase II.

         23  Then you can quantify the cleanup at that point, and

         24  then a person can make a decision as to whether the

         25  property should be in the program or not.
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          2                 MR. HERSH:  I will just compare it,

          3  when you buy a tax lien, you have no legal access to

          4  the property.  You have very little access to any

          5  environmental information what is in the public

          6  realm, et cetera.  So if you can improve upon that

          7  and do the third party transfer, that is a good

          8  answer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I think in

         10  truth you are right, our structure is better able,

         11  it is better than the current. So that was actually

         12  not a good point by Dr. Kulikowski, but okay. I get

         13  it now.

         14                 And last, okay, in your experience, I

         15  guess it was Mr. Schnapf spoke to this most.  Our

         16  Brownfield properties are sold through tax liens,

         17  are they cleaned up, or do they mostly, if you had

         18  to guess what of the acreage of Brownfield property

         19  sold through tax liens, you know, what percent have

         20  been cleaned up, what percent are still being held

         21  and kind of banked?

         22                 MR. HERSH:  The most common outcome

         23  is that the tax lien is paid, meaning that the

         24  existing owner stays there and probably does

         25  nothing, other than they just now have to pay their
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          2  taxes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I see, I see.

          4                 MR. HERSH:  I would say the number

          5  where the owner, where the tax lien holder actually

          6  forecloses and takes control of the property is

          7  actually relatively small, but it tends to be the

          8  larger properties to where there is more

          9  opportunity, it is more worthwhile for them to take

         10  control, go through the environmental and sell it in

         11  a different way, but it is a small proportion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And Jonathan,

         13  do you have a guess to how many Brownfield

         14  properties are out there that are in tax arrears?  I

         15  know the number, a couple of people have said it is

         16  6,000 acres of possible Brownfields total, but do

         17  you have some guess?  Ours, we tried to do, as I say

         18  quick and dirty, came up with about somewhere over

         19  100 properties, they are Class IV properties in tax

         20  arrears, and we are suggesting that most of those

         21  are probably Brownfields.  You know what I don't

         22  want to take to much time here.

         23                 MR. HERSH:  I would be happy to share

         24  data with you, because we were, that number came

         25  from vacant industrial land as a marker for
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          2  Brownfields, which is not exactly right, but we have

          3  a database of about 1,800 acres of Brownfields.

          4  What I don't know if they are in tax arrears or not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.

          6                 MR. HERSH:  So if we share data we

          7  can figure it out.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  That would be

          9  great, thank you, we can do that.

         10                 MR. SCHNAPF:  I would say, you know,

         11  if you use the definition of Brownfield you are

         12  going to be artificially narrowing that universe,

         13  because it has to have the use is complicated, has

         14  to be complicated as opposed to sites that have

         15  contamination that are not being used.  And that

         16  would be a bigger universe, I think.

         17                 MR. SPRINGER:  And I should also say

         18  that the estimate of 4,000  that is vacant land

         19  zoned for manufacturing, obviously, there is only a

         20  subset of that land that is environmentally

         21  contaminated.  But they are potentially vacant

         22  pieces of land that are zoned for residential and

         23  commercial that may also be contaminated.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes,

         25  especially now we have done a lot of rezonings.
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          2                 MR. SPRINGER:  And it is going to be

          3  hard to, it is a challenge to collect that

          4  information, because no one wants the stigma.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank

          6  you, okay, thank you very much.  This panel is

          7  dismissed.  And the Counsel to the Committee will

          8  call the next panel, I am advised.

          9                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Tom Ciano from

         10  Neighborhood Restore, Richard Werber, Greater

         11  Jamaica Development Corporation, and Raphael

         12  Celabarios, Bronx Overall Economic Development

         13  Corporation.

         14                 Please raise your right hands?  In

         15  the testimony that you are about to give, do you

         16  swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth,

         17  and nothing but the truth?

         18                 ALL:  I do.

         19                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Sorry about

         21  that, I had to go downstairs.  It is a pleasure that

         22  you can be here, thank you for your patience.  And

         23  in particularly, Greater Jamaica, with whom I have

         24  such a great partnership, great to have you here.

         25  And so Mr. Ciano, I have heard much about you two,
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          2  as well.  So a pleasure to have you both here, and

          3  in whichever order you wish to go, we will be happy

          4  to hear your statements.

          5                 MR. CIANO:  Good afternoon, Chairman

          6  Gennaro, and members of the Committee.  My name is

          7  Tom Ciano, and I am the Executive Director of

          8  Neighborhood Restore.  The not- for- profit entity

          9  established by the City to administer the third

         10  party transfer program.

         11                 As you may be aware the Brownfields

         12  Bill under discussion today was modeled after the

         13  Third Party Transfer Program, which has enabled the

         14  transfer of nearly 300 tax delinquent properties to

         15  Neighborhood Restore, and has worked to stabilize

         16  these properties and transfer approximately 200 of

         17  them to responsible community- based developers for

         18  rehabilitation.

         19                 In general, I support the Brownfields

         20  Bill, but would like to share with you some

         21  observations and some of the lessons we have learned

         22  through the administration of the Third Party

         23  Transfer Program.

         24                 My first thought is keep the

         25  administration of the program simple.  The bill
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          2  contemplates the involvement of multiple City

          3  agencies and an advisory board, which may cause the

          4  program to become overly complicated.  The greatest

          5  efficiency may be realized if the involved agencies

          6  are allowed to do what they do best.  For example,

          7  HPD and DCAS have considerable experience with real

          8  estate transactions and development.  They may be

          9  more appropriate to take the lead in initiating the

         10  pipeline of properties directing the RFQ process,

         11  selecting developers, and transferring Brownfield

         12  properties, then would DEP.

         13                 They may also be better equipped to

         14  identify priority blocks based on income and poverty

         15  rates, then would DEP, as is suggested in the bill.

         16                 HPD may also be involved with the

         17  development of other parcels in close proximity to

         18  these Brownfield sites, and could take advantage of

         19  economies of scale.

         20                 The environmental experts at DEP

         21  could add value by assisting in the identification

         22  of environmental hazards, and reviewing remediation

         23  plans.

         24                 The second suggestion is, initiate

         25  exploratory and transactional activities early.  The
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          2  party to develop any revitalization property on a

          3  priority block is selected within 180 days of

          4  transfer to the third party.  Whereas with the third

          5  party transfer program, that selection happens prior

          6  to the initial transfer to NR, and the developer's

          7  name is included in the notice sent to City Council.

          8                 By undertaking some activities

          9  earlier you will shorten the development time line

         10  by several months, and also reduce the project

         11  carrying and development costs.  In addition, the

         12  current bill does not require that the City Council

         13  be informed as to who the ultimate developers will

         14  be.

         15                 The third concept is, identify

         16  environmental hazards early.  The bill requires that

         17  a phase I study be done 90 days after transfer to

         18  the third party.  Whereas with the Third Party

         19  Transfer Program that is now done prior to transfer.

         20    There should be no reason why it couldn't be done

         21  before hand.

         22                 In reference to Councilman Yassky's

         23  earlier questions, conducting environmental studies

         24  prior to transfer not only shortens the development

         25  time line, but also assists developers and the City
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          2  in establishing remediation plans and budgets at an

          3  early stage.

          4                 In the absence of knowledge about

          5  environmental hazards, developers may be reluctant

          6  to accept responsibility for a property.  In

          7  addition, insurance companies will also be unwilling

          8  to offer insurance coverage to properties without a

          9  full understanding of the environmental risks

         10  associated with a piece of property.

         11                 Fourth, broaden eligible pool of

         12  developers.  The current Brownfield Legislation

         13  defines eligible developers as community- based

         14  organizations working alone or partnering with a

         15  not- for- profit or for- profit development entity.

         16  The definition of CBO appears to be too narrow and

         17  restrictive.  It is questionable whether there are

         18  many entities that match that definition, which

         19  requires among other things a stated mission of

         20  being committed to dealing with Brownfields.

         21                 There is an underlying premise that

         22  the goals of the bill cannot be accomplished by for-

         23  profit entities operating on their own.  This flies

         24  in the face of the experience that such entities are

         25  quite capable of, and have a successful history of
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          2  developing affordable housing.  One should not

          3  assume either that for- profit entities cannot be

          4  trusted to deal with Brownfields, or that CBOs and

          5  not- for- profit entities have the capacity and

          6  competence to do it.

          7                 Whoever has the competence and the

          8  capacity to deliver an environmentally safe project,

          9  which meets the project community's needs, whether

         10  affordable housing or other projects, should be

         11  eligible to participate in the program.

         12                 Fifth, use developers with access to

         13  resources. Unless the City is planning to fully

         14  finance all environmental remediation and

         15  development of the Brownfield sites, it would be

         16  extremely important to select developers with access

         17  to financial resources.  The third party transfer

         18  developers with limited access to money are usually

         19  the ones least able to bring a project to fruition

         20  in a timely way.  They could spin their wheels for

         21  months trying to figure out how to raise financing.

         22                 As a minimum, it is important for the

         23  City to clearly articulate in the RFQ the magnitude

         24  of the financing needed and the timeframe within

         25  which developers must secure it.

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 It is also imperative that the City

          3  thoroughly evaluate the financial capacity of each

          4  potential developer before selecting them.  As an

          5  indicator of a developer's financial capacity, it

          6  may also be advisable to require that developers

          7  place a minimum amount of funds in an escrow account

          8  for later use on this program.

          9                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         10  testify today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         12  thank you.

         13                 MR. WERBER:  I am Richard Werber.  I

         14  am the Director of Business and Industrial

         15  Development for Greater Jamaica Development

         16  Corporation.  Thank you very much for recognizing

         17  our organization, Chairman Gennaro, we really do

         18  appreciate it, and for this opportunity.

         19                 I am going to be commenting less on

         20  the legislative language and more on perhaps our

         21  experience as a local development corporation in an

         22  area that does have Brownfields and is trying to

         23  remediate that problem.

         24                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Council

         25  members, and staff, thank you for this opportunity
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          2  to comment on these matters. I am here today

          3  speaking as a representative of the Greater Jamaica

          4  Development Corporation, a non- profit organization

          5  that has been a leader in business and economic

          6  development, and an advocate for mixed- use Urban

          7  Planning for Jamaica, Queens for over 30 years. And

          8  Jamaica is in the business heart of Community

          9  District 12.  I would say that that area also is a

         10  State Economic Empire Zone, and a good piece of it

         11  is an in place industrial park, as well.

         12                 The New York State Brownfield Cleanup

         13  Program and the Brownfield Opportunity Area Program

         14   - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  You are

         16  forgetting the most important thing, it is also, a

         17  big part of it is in my district.

         18                 MR. WERBER:  And of course, I am very

         19  sorry, Sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Just to

         21  complete the record there.

         22                 MR. WERBER:  Can we roll the tape

         23  back, and maybe I can catch it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  That is all

         25  right.
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          2                 MR. WERBER:  And Jamaica is in

          3  Chairman Gennaro's district, as well.

          4                 The New York State Brownfield Cleanup

          5  Program and the Brownfield Opportunity Area Program,

          6  or BOA as it is commonly called are powerful tools

          7  for supporting the redevelopment of areas that might

          8  otherwise lay fallow.  BOA is a public investment

          9  that will subsidized the preplanning studies that

         10  will encourage commitment of private investment to

         11  major projects.  The Brownfield Cleanup Program

         12  incentives will encourage private developers to take

         13  on these projects and move them to completion.

         14                 We support the package of amendments

         15  under discussion today in support of Brownfield

         16  redevelopment and reuse. We are especially pleased

         17  to support Introduction No. 567, co sponsored by

         18  Councilman David Yassky and Jamaica's Councilman

         19  James Gennaro.  This amendment requiring the

         20  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         21  Environmental Protection to take the lead, working

         22  with the Office of Environmental Coordination and

         23  other City agencies to develop a plan for a

         24  coordinated approach to facilitate the remediation

         25  and reuse of Brownfields in New York City, would be
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          2  most welcome.

          3                 A particular interest to Greater

          4  Jamaica Development Corporation is the second

          5  recommendation in Section 24- 613 of the proposed

          6  amendment.  This recommendation calls for a plan for

          7  coordinating efforts regarding Brownfields planning,

          8  investigation, remediation, and redevelopment of

          9  community groups, other non profit organizations,

         10  and government agencies.  Greater Jamaica

         11  Development Corporation can attest to the usefulness

         12  and need of such a plan for the BOA program.

         13                 BOA provides non- profits with the

         14  resources to work with the community to define its

         15  preferences for development, and analyze market

         16  demand for the various projects in a Brownfield

         17  area.  And coordinate with and incorporate municipal

         18  land use plans into a remediation and development

         19  plan.  It fills the knowledge gap between a

         20  community- based vision for area redevelopment and

         21  the remediation steps that a developer would have to

         22  undertake to make that vision real.

         23                 Brownfield remediation and

         24  development is not something for a soloist, it needs

         25  a sizable ensemble, playing in tune and in tempo.
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          2                 Since the passage of State

          3  legislation in October of 2003, Greater Jamaica

          4  Development Corporation has worked toward analyzing

          5  and preparing for the introduction of the BOA

          6  program. With the help and support of both the NYC

          7  Economic Development Corporation and the Department

          8  of City Planning, we prepared a BOA applications for

          9  2004.  However, as other city efforts moved forward,

         10  our partners realized that an environmental impact

         11  study to address a comprehensive rezoning and

         12  focused urban development plan for Downtown Jamaica

         13  would also begin soon, and this raised concerns

         14  related to the timing of the BOA effort and the

         15  study.  We all agreed that it would be best to hold

         16  off on our BOA submission and submit a proposal at a

         17  later date.

         18                 A city- supported plan, like the one

         19  we are discussing today, for coordinating Brownfield

         20  remediation and development efforts as recommended

         21  in the proposed amendment would help assure that all

         22  the partners required for this very complex

         23  development mission are comfortable that they are

         24  working towards the same goal, at the same time, on

         25  the same schedule with full knowledge and
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          2  understanding of each other's needs.  We therefore

          3  support this amendment heartily.

          4                 Regarding your proposed resolution

          5  calling upon the Governor and State Legislature to

          6  execute, finally, the Memorandum of Understanding

          7  that would allow distribution of funding for the

          8  Brownfield programs under discussion today, we can

          9  only say, go for it.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         12  Thank you, Mr. Werber, and certainly, Greater

         13  Jamaica has, you know, gone for it in many ways,

         14  over many decades, and we appreciate the great

         15  partnership that we have with you, and your interest

         16  in Brownfields.  And, you know, thank you for your

         17  detailed comments. And certainly, we are, once we

         18  get the BOA reso. Passed out of the Council, we are

         19  going to be partnering with, you know, entities to

         20  sort of bring this up to the State.  So it will not

         21  only be just the, you know, voice of the 51 Council

         22  members, because all of the affected entities that

         23  the hold up of the BOA program is having such an

         24  impact on.  So we clearly want to work with you on

         25  that. And I know that I have your cooperation in
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          2  that.

          3                 Mr. Ciano, yes, your testimony was

          4  very thoughtful and very eye opening in a lot of

          5  ways.  And as we go forward on this, we will work

          6  with you closely to get the benefit of your views on

          7  this, because you do this day- in and day- out, and

          8  have kind of in- depth insight that I think is, that

          9  we will need in order to get this as close to

         10  perfect as we possibly can.  And that is the

         11  standard we are shooting for here, and so, thank you

         12  for even being a part of this process, and looking

         13  forward to working with you on this.

         14                 So thank you both.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Just briefly,

         16  Mr. Ciano, thank you, all of your suggestions strike

         17  me as improvements.  I mean so I thank you for them,

         18  they are excellent.

         19                 The one question I have is on doing

         20  the environmental, at least on page one, before

         21  transfer.  I did not realize that you do that with

         22  the HPD program.  Who pays for that?

         23                 MR. CIANO:  HPD does.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I see.  So,

         25  okay.
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          2                 MR. CIANO:  Neighborhoods Restore

          3  actually undertakes those studies.  We have

          4  contracted out with three or four environmental

          5  groups that do the phase ones.  And as part of the

          6  operating costs of the program, HPD reimburses

          7  Neighborhood Restore for the cost that they

          8  incurred.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And what I am

         10  wondering, in the case when then the property owner

         11  the last minute comes in and redeems the property,

         12  do they have to reimburse for that?

         13                 MR. CIANO:  I will explain two

         14  things.  One, we don't start the phase ones until

         15  the first four- month transfer period has past, it

         16  is the redemption period.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.

         18                 MR. CIANO:  The second period we call

         19  the transfer period and that is the period within

         20  which HPD has discretion to entertain offers from

         21  the owners for naught.  And in some cases, they

         22  have, in some cases they have been lawsuits that

         23  have been dragged out over months and years.  And in

         24  the case of a lawsuit, where the owner won the case,

         25  and that has been very, very rare, we have compiled
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          2  all of our operating costs associated with managing

          3  the property during the period of dispute, and we

          4  have --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  You include

          6  that.

          7                 MR. CIANO:  We have either gotten

          8  reimbursed, or we have taken it out of any money

          9  that we have raised from that property.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I see.  So

         11  basically it is only, it is limited, or my question

         12  is kind of limited to situations where HPD doesn't

         13  want to entertain an offer and take it.  You have

         14  already spent the money, but I guess at that point

         15  they can make the judgement of whether it is worth

         16  it or not.

         17                 MR. CIANO:  Yes, and these --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And they

         19  don't have a right to.  Okay.

         20                 MR. CIANO:  And these studies

         21  probably aren't as nearly as expensive as some of

         22  the Brownfield sites, they might be 1,500 per study.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I wonder if

         24  that would work on a real Brownfield, it might not

         25  fit within that time period.
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          2                 MR. CIANO:  I would emphasize though

          3  that we found that some groups had been reluctant to

          4  take properties.  The Board of Directors of

          5  Neighborhood Restore has been reluctant, if there

          6  was a catastrophic sort of environmental problem on

          7  a site.  And you will have difficulty having the

          8  sites insured.  Neighborhood Restore takes ownership

          9  of the property, we care about things like rent,

         10  insurance, and with the value of the properties

         11  being so low, we have a difficult time insuring the

         12  properties.  So we cannot be too particular about

         13  who we get.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         15  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         17  Council Member Yassky.  Thank you both for being

         18  here today.  We appreciate your time, your views,

         19  and most of all your patience.

         20                 Pardon?  The snow is, the Brownfields

         21  aren't going to be brown all that long, let's just

         22  put it that way.

         23                 And some of the people may have left,

         24  but we are going to call sort of like one last,

         25  grand panel.  And we will have Mr. Carter Craft with

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  the Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance, Amada Masters,

          3  New York Lawyers Public Interest, Rodrigo Venegas,

          4  if I am saying that correctly, from Youth Ministries

          5  for Peace and Justice. Sergeant, there will

          6  ultimately be five or six people, maybe five people

          7  on this panel, just to let you know.  Shaking Alston

          8  New York City Environmental Justice Alliance, Eva

          9  Hanhardt it looks like, Eva Hanhardt, if I am saying

         10  that right, MAS Planning Center. You know what, give

         11  the statements to the Sergeant, anyone who has one,

         12  and Joe Kupferman, New York Environmental Law and

         13  Justice.

         14                 Okay, so this is the panel that gets

         15  the patience award.  And the Sergeant is going to

         16  give out copies of the statements, and while he is

         17  doing that, Counsel to the Committee will swear you

         18  in.

         19                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Please raise your

         20  right hands?  In the testimony that you are about to

         21  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         22  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         23                 ALL:  I do.

         24                 MS. DE COSTANZO:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay.  Thank
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          2  you, thank you all for being here, and in whichever

          3  order you wish, although we can use the order that I

          4  called them, why don't we use that order.

          5                 MS. HANHARDT:  Councilman, is it all

          6  right if I speak first, because I have a four

          7  o'clock meeting in Brooklyn, which I am currently

          8  already going to be late for?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Oh sure,

         10  without objection, so ordered.  It sounded official,

         11  didn't it.

         12                 MS. HANHARDT:  Thank you very much.

         13  My name is Eva Hanhardt, and I am Senior Advisor to

         14  the Municipal Arts Society Planning Center.  I am

         15  also Professor of Urban and Environmental Planning

         16  at Pratt Institute and at Hunter College, Graduate

         17  Programs of Planning.

         18                 I am pleased to be here today to

         19  speak in support of Intro. 567, Intro. 582, and

         20  Resolution 795.  Since its inception in 1989, the

         21  Municipal Arts Society Planning Center has been

         22  committed to supporting community- based planning in

         23  low- and moderate- income communities.  Most of the

         24  thousands of Brownfield properties in the City of

         25  New York are in or near low- and moderate- income
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          2  neighborhoods that have already experienced long

          3  years of abandonment, disinvestment, and

          4  environmental degradation.

          5                 The continued presence of these

          6  Brownfields threatens the health, safety, and

          7  vitality of the communities in which they are

          8  located.  As a result many of the community- based

          9  plans, which are in our briefing book, which you can

         10  get on- line at MAS.org, developed by low- and

         11  moderate- income communities specifically call for

         12  the remediation and redevelopment of Brownfield

         13  sites.

         14                 Intros. 567, 582, and Resolution 795

         15  are important steps to guaranteeing that the

         16  remediation and redevelopment of the Brownfields

         17  called for by these community- based plans will be

         18  undertaken in an inclusive, transparent, and timely

         19  manner.  For example, once authorized by an executed

         20  MOU the funding from the BOA Program would make it

         21  possible for community- based organization from low-

         22  and moderate- income communities alone, or in

         23  partnership with the City to implement the goals of

         24  their community- based plans by completing area-

         25  wide Brownfield redevelopment plans, which you have
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          2  heard a number of the speakers discuss how important

          3  those are.  And put these blighted properties into

          4  productive use, meeting community needs such as

          5  affordable housing, open space, and/or economic

          6  development including industrial development.

          7                 In particular the Planning Center

          8  would like to commend a number of the elements of

          9  the proposed laws and resolution, including but not

         10  being limited to an emphasis in both the laws and in

         11  the resolution on low- and moderate- income

         12  communities that are disproportional burdened by the

         13  clustering of Brownfield sites.

         14                 A commitment to including

         15  representatives of community, environmental justice,

         16  and environmental organizations on the advisory

         17  board that assists the Commissioner and the Office

         18  of Environmental Coordination.

         19                 With the development of a

         20  comprehensive program for the remediation of and

         21  reuse of Brownfields.  And it is not in my written

         22  testimony, but I also concur that that advisory

         23  board should be the same advisory board for both

         24  local laws.

         25                 A commitment to coordinating efforts
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          2  with all stakeholders, including community groups.

          3  We have found that including stakeholders saves

          4  time, it does not lose time.  In the long run, maybe

          5  for the very first moments, it seems like it is

          6  saving time, but in the long run, it really does

          7  not.

          8                 The provision of technical and

          9  financial assistance to community groups involved in

         10  Brownfield planning, investigation, remediation, and

         11  redevelopment, a formed time table for action, and

         12  for required publicly available reports documenting

         13  activities and progress on the comprehensive

         14  program.            A requirement that these reports

         15  include identification of support provided to

         16  community organizations, including solicitation

         17  activities and selection criteria.

         18                 The provisions in Intro. 582 that

         19  address tax lien sales and third party transfer as

         20  they relate to industrial retention and the

         21  community based organization involvement in the

         22  redevelopment of properties and priority blocks.

         23  And particularly in Intro. 582 the inclusion of area

         24  subject to 197- A Plans in the criteria for

         25  selection is a priority block.  Too often
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          2  communities has spent years doing 197- A plans only

          3  to find that the property has already been purchased

          4  or is being held, and their plans cannot be

          5  implemented.

          6                 Progress for the planning and

          7  redevelopment of Brownfields is crucial to the

          8  successful revitalization of New York City's

          9  neighborhood, especially those in low- and moderate-

         10  income communities.

         11                 These Intros. And Resolution

         12  represent important steps in making the

         13  revitalization a reality in a manner that is both

         14  timely and respects the important role that

         15  community- based organizations can and must play.

         16                 I therefore strongly urge the City

         17  Council to approve Intro. 567, 582, and Resolution

         18  795.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.  I

         21  thank you, Ms. Hanhardt, right, Hanhardt.  We

         22  appreciate your being here.  We know that you have

         23  to go to another meeting, and I agree with you.  I

         24  agree with you, and I thank you for your partnering

         25  with us, and please give our best to all the good
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          2  people at MAS.

          3                 MS. HANHARDT:  Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Okay, thanks

          5  for being here, I appreciate it.  Mr. Craft.

          6                 MR. CRAFT:  I am Carter Craft.  I am

          7  Director of the Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance.  I

          8  just want to make four quick points, try to squeeze

          9  into my self- imposed three- minute time limit.

         10                 One is we need a better understanding

         11  of the scale of the problem.  And to me, one of the

         12  greatest obstacles in improving the waterfront in

         13  this city is that there is a real disconnect between

         14  our water use policy and our land use policy. For

         15  instance, the sediments, which exist on land

         16  eventually will make their way into our waterways,

         17  and driving up the cost of our dredging.  Numbers

         18  that we have gotten from the staff at the Port

         19  Authority is that on an annual basis of just the

         20  maintenance dredging alone, we are spending about

         21  $50 million to deal with the contaminated sediment.

         22  The clean sediment costs us about $10 million a

         23  year.  You break that down that is $4 million a

         24  month on contaminated sediment, $140,000 a day for

         25  contaminated sediment, and by the time we get to
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          2  four o'clock, that will be $21,000, which we spend

          3  of dredging while we sat here because that sediment

          4  is dirty.

          5                 Just specifically to get to a few

          6  points in Intro. 567.  We suggest that under Section

          7  24- 603, (I)(1) include the language of adjacent

          8  waterways when you are talking about eligible

          9  parcels or properties.  One, I think it is a

         10  responsible policy, because it recognizes where the

         11  problem ends up.  And two, I think by having that

         12  phrase in local legislation and in the resolution

         13  signed by the City, both sides, the Executive and

         14  the Legislative Branches of the City, it may

         15  increase your access to federal resources through

         16  the US Army Corp once you are recognizing that

         17  problem.

         18                 Just as an aside, the Army Corp. Is

         19  the only federal agency in New York City, which has

         20  gotten its full request from the Bush White House,

         21  the only one.

         22                 Number two, I think we need to

         23  clarify, if possible, you know the explicit intent

         24  of the law here.  Basically to provide as clear and

         25  strict a definition of public benefit as possible.
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          2  For instance, could the language under the mission

          3  of the program, you know, could that be applied to

          4  the Hudson Yards, could that be applied to the

          5  Atlantic Yards, if someone wanted to take a more

          6  loose definition of how much and how we should be

          7  spending the federal or state money once it comes

          8  here?  What is the definition and the most strict

          9  and public spirit of definition of public benefit

         10  that we want to incorporate?

         11                 And third, I think under process 24-

         12  613 (c) (1), if it comes out of advisory committee,

         13  or working group, or whatever, I think there is

         14  probably a need to include the New York State

         15  Department of Environmental Conservation and

         16  possibly the US Army Corp. Of Engineers as possible

         17  advisors.  Because through this rigid and

         18  regimented, bureaucratic system that we have, by

         19  bringing in the state and bringing in the federal

         20  government as partners in the process, we could help

         21  break the bureaucratic log jam, which has brought us

         22  here today.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you.

         25  Thank you.  Amanda Masters.
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          2                 MS. MASTERS:  Thank you.  Good

          3  afternoon.  My name is Amanda Masters, and I am an

          4  attorney at New York Lawyers for the Public

          5  Interest.  New York Lawyers for the Public Interest

          6  is a not- for- profit organization formed in the

          7  seventies, and since the early nineties are

          8  environmental justice and community development

          9  project has offered legal assistance and community

         10  organizing resources to environmentally distressed

         11  neighborhoods.

         12                 I am going to try to summarize and

         13  skim through my testimony, although it is not very

         14  long.  Because it does repeat a lot of things that

         15  other people have said earlier.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         17  thank you.

         18                 MS. MASTERS:  You are welcome.  I am

         19  going to briefly address the three different things

         20  on the table at this hearing.

         21                 First of all, the resolution

         22  demanding that the Governor and the State

         23  Legislature execute the MOU.  Obviously, we are in

         24  favor of that and applaud the idea of City Council

         25  pushing on that.
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          2                 Skipping to the second point, the

          3  City program for remediation and reuse of

          4  Brownfields, Intro. 567.  We also support this

          5  proposal.  And with regard to definitions, we just

          6  want to make the point that it is particularly

          7  important that the proposed local law places

          8  emphasis on communities of low- and moderate income

          9  that are disproportionately burdened by the

         10  clustering of Brownfields.  And this emphasis on

         11  chronic under- utilization should be the touchstone

         12  of any Brownfields development and Brownfields

         13  definition.  And it is important to focus on

         14  communities of color and low- income communities

         15  unfairly burdened by Brownfields, and not allow the

         16  interpretation of any definition to become so

         17  expansive as to allow private developers to cherry-

         18  pick projects like the New York Time Company's new

         19  headquarters building at 8th Avenue and 40th Street

         20  in Manhattan to be deemed a property in need of some

         21  special incentive attached to it in order to

         22  encourage developers.

         23                 The second point that we would make

         24  with regard to 567, is that it proposes that the

         25  City use various tools that it already has at its
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          2  disposal to facilitate Brownfields redevelopment,

          3  including prioritization of City resources of

          4  various agencies.  And we would suggest that the

          5  Council consider requiring City agencies like HPD

          6  and EDC to have some mechanism to give prior notice

          7  to community boards before they sell or auction off

          8  City- owned property.  Because often communities, as

          9  someone said earlier, find out too late that the

         10  property they have been interested in working on,

         11  has already been sold.  It would be whatever

         12  mechanism you could in place would probably use

         13  relatively small agency resources and make a big

         14  difference.

         15                 Skipping ahead to the third

         16  Introduction 582, we also support this obviously,

         17  and the proposed amendments to the Administrative

         18  Code regarding tax lien foreclosures, could be an

         19  important opportunity for communities to have some

         20  agency in shaping what their own neighborhoods look

         21  like.  For too long the system in place for a tax

         22  lien foreclosures has been exploited by speculators

         23  who purchase abandoned and vacant lots as investment

         24  property, do not improve the lots, and thus prevent

         25  community development by the community.
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          2                 New York Lawyers for the Public

          3  Interest had worked with groups over the years who

          4  have experienced this, the sort of abuse.  And I can

          5  consult with my colleagues back in the office to

          6  bring you specific examples.  Unfortunately, I,

          7  personally, don't have them at my fingertips.

          8  Although, I know a little bit about a group at Hunts

          9  Point, Bronx that was working with our office, and

         10  ran into a problem, similar to the one others have

         11  described with JE Roberts buying up properties.

         12                 So with regard to Intro. 582, we had

         13  a couple of small comments to make regarding

         14  possible things to pay attention to, or room for

         15  improvement.  Basically, we believe that it is a

         16  good proposal and it is just important to pay

         17  attention to the details and implementation such as

         18  the request for qualifications, should be inclusive

         19  in their search for community- based organizations.

         20  In the law there is mention of demonstrated

         21  capacity, and the sort of things that the RFQ would

         22  require, and these are important things, but they

         23  should not be so strictly interpreted as to disallow

         24  new and growing organizations that are just now

         25  learning about what they can do in their own
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          2  communities, or who will be learning as the next few

          3  years go by from participating.

          4                 A second point that we would make is

          5  that the proposed amendment lists four specific

          6  functions for the end use of property.  All of which

          7  are, obviously, laudable and very important.  And

          8  obviously in the implementation, one should look

          9  closely to make sure the definitions are not treated

         10  too loosely. For instance, the option of an end- use

         11  that is commercial, or industrial small business

         12  space.  If the community residents are going to be

         13  employed at new jobs created by that entity, we

         14  suggest that there be some objective standard

         15  regarding the idea of local hiring to ensure that

         16  people are just not giving lip service to the

         17  concept of local hiring, and that people really do

         18  get jobs.

         19                 Likewise, the fourth category of a

         20  good end- use, the residential mixed- use commercial

         21  or industrial projects designed to "eliminate

         22  blight, or revitalize, or stabilize low- and

         23  moderate income communities" could possibly be

         24  interpreted too broadly, and we would suggest that

         25  to the extent that that can clarified so that it
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          2  doesn't become a loose catch- all that would allow

          3  development of commercial projects that may not be

          4  wanted in communities of low income and communities

          5  of color.

          6                 Again, we reiterate the idea of prior

          7  notice to community boards here, we think that can

          8  be very useful.

          9                 And finally, with regard to the

         10  concept of public input, which is mentioned

         11  throughout the proposed legislation, we suggest that

         12  it might be useful to clarify that the public input

         13  is going to happen early on in the formulation of

         14  the end- use plan. And that it is not just an after

         15  thought, it is not a requirement of a report after

         16  the fact.  But that the public has input in that

         17  formulation period.

         18                 And I will end there.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         20  thank you.

         21                 MR. VENEGAS:  Hi, my name is Rodrigo

         22  Venegas.  I am the Youth Organizer Coordinator at

         23  Youth Ministries for Peace and Justice.  I am

         24  representing Youth Ministries for Peace and Justice,

         25  an organization of young community leaders and
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          2  organizers.  We have applied for BOA community

          3  planning plan with the Point CDC, Sustainable South

          4  Bronx, Pratt Institute Center for Community and

          5  Environmental Development, and the Bronx Overall

          6  Economic Development Corporation.  Our proposed BOA

          7  follows the banks of the Bronx River from the Cross

          8  Bronx Expressways south, and includes the Hunts

          9  Point Peninsula.  The amazing Bronx River, the only

         10  true river in New York City is lined with a greenway

         11  paths and gardens from its origin in Westchester

         12  down to the Cross Bronx Expressways. But in our

         13  neighborhood these treasures are replaced with

         14  highways, junk yards, and waste facilities which

         15  block our community's access and pollute the river

         16  where even today some residents swim and fish.

         17                 Youth Ministries for Peace and

         18  Justice have been fighting for almost a decade to

         19  restore Brownfields in our community, particularly

         20  along the Bronx River.  We face many challenges in

         21  this effort.  Some polluting business owners show no

         22  regard for ecological and community risks.

         23  Political officials are skeptical about our

         24  community vision to improve quality of life and the

         25  environment of the Bronx.  When Brownfields are made
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          2  available for redevelopment, big money developers

          3  buy the land and redevelop it in ways that often

          4  either add pollution to our already dangerous air

          5  and water, or raise rents and price out local

          6  businesses and residents, as if we were not worthy

          7  of a new redeveloped South Bronx.  In spite of these

          8  challenges our allies and us have organized our

          9  community to develop plans for redevelopment in the

         10  Bronx that bring affordable housing, services for

         11  youth, community based business and environmental

         12  sustainability.  Our work thus far has converted

         13  several Brownfields in our neighborhood to parks.

         14                 Youth Ministries and our allies have

         15  worked on Brownfield redevelopment, and specifically

         16  on drafting the New York State Brownfields Law for

         17  several years.  We worked to lobby State Legislators

         18  and achieve the win/win Brownfields victory that

         19  this law promised.  However, the major win for the

         20  community was that the State Brownfields Program

         21  would support community- based planning efforts

         22  through BOA grants.  Not funding the BOA program was

         23  a grave injustice by the New York State DEC.

         24                 We strongly encourage the City

         25  Council to demand the release of those funds,
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          2  because we, your constituents, have beneath working

          3  very hard to rebuild our communities, and this is a

          4  critical opportunity for us in those efforts.

          5                 Finally, we strongly encourage the

          6  City Council to pass the City's Brownfields Law.  We

          7  must stress the importance of including community

          8  and environmental justice voice in planning end-

          9  uses of redeveloped Brownfields.  It is not only

         10  important that abandoned, underdeveloped, and

         11  polluting properties in our communities are restored

         12  for productive use, it is just as important that the

         13  end- uses meet needs of the local residents that

         14  have so long bore the burdens of these Brownfields.

         15  It is critical that the City take a regional

         16  planning approach to redevelopment that will secure

         17  affordable housing and small business opportunities

         18  in addition to new community amenities in order to

         19  prevent the forced expulsion of existing residents

         20  through gentrification.  We at Youth Ministries for

         21  Peace and Justice, and on behalf of environmental

         22  justice communities around the City, ask for your

         23  support in creating a community led vision for our

         24  neighborhoods that provides affordable, high-

         25  quality of life for our New York City residents.
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          2                 Thanks.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          4  thank you so much. Mr. Alston.

          5                 MR. ALSTON:  Good afternoon, Chairman

          6  Gennaro, Council Member Yassky, and members of the

          7  Environmental Protection Committee of the New York

          8  City Council.  My name is Shaking Alston. I am the

          9  Executive Director of the New York City

         10  Environmental Justice Alliance.

         11                 The New York City Environmental

         12  Justice Alliance is the citywide network of

         13  grassroots, community- based organizations, based on

         14  low- income communities of color, who strive to

         15  achieve a cleaner, healthier, and improved quality

         16  of life in their respective neighborhoods.

         17                 NYCEJA's mission is to assist member

         18  groups in their fight against environmental racism

         19  by supporting their efforts to organize their groups

         20  in their communities, and by providing as needed

         21  analysis and technical support they require to

         22  engage in effective advocacy and wage long- term

         23  campaigns.

         24                 I am here to offer my response the

         25  following proposed legislation Intro. 567, 582, and
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          2  Resolution 795. Although, we are in late afternoon,

          3  and there is not much more I want to add on, so I

          4  want to speak in our comments in a more spirit of

          5  environmental justice and what our concerns are when

          6  we look at issues.

          7                 We believe this legislation will

          8  address the adverse impacts from the proliferation

          9  of Brownfield sites in low- income communities of

         10  color.  As you know, NYCEJA's members have been a

         11  leading voice in conveying the need for the

         12  development of a comprehensive, sound

         13  environmentally and economically appropriate

         14  Brownfields plan that is comparable for low- income

         15  communities of color in NYC.

         16                 Today represents an opportunity to

         17  ensure that the community revitalization will occur

         18  in New York City's Environmental Justice

         19  neighborhoods.  New York City's low- income

         20  neighborhoods and communities of color have

         21  historically been excluded from the planning and

         22  development of their neighborhoods. As a result,

         23  these communities house a disproportionate share of

         24  the City's power plants, incinerators, landfills,

         25  bus depots, sludge and sewage treatment plants, and
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          2  solid waste transfer stations.

          3                 In addition, hundreds of Brownfield

          4  sites remain idle throughout New York City.  The

          5  vast majority of which rest in low- income

          6  neighborhoods of color.  The redevelopment of

          7  Brownfield sites represents one of the best hopes

          8  for turning the tide of economic disinvestment and

          9  environmental degradation effecting these

         10  communities.

         11                 NYCEJA recognizes that the City's

         12  suspected and confirmed Brownfield sites raise

         13  serious concerns for communities of color throughout

         14  the City.  However, we should take a moment to

         15  reflect on the fact that Brownfields are the result

         16  of past environmental policy that failed to meet the

         17  needs and expectations of proper site investigations

         18  and cleanup.  The City should strive to ensure with

         19  this program to provide resources for pollution

         20  prevention training to community- based

         21  organizations in Brownfield Opportunity Areas, which

         22  they seek to develop sites.

         23                 One example of this training will be

         24  to explore the utilization of the precautionary

         25  principle in cases where development and certain
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          2  manufacturing may be involved.  The precautionary

          3  principle calls for taking thoughtful,

          4  scientifically sound action as appropriate to

          5  protect human health in the environment, even when

          6  there is no scientific certainty.  This presents an

          7  historic opportunity to refocused environmental

          8  decision- making or reducing future harm to

          9  communities of color. We have learned in the past

         10  this lack of caution created communities that we

         11  proliferated with Brownfields.

         12                 Another key component of the program

         13  should encourage development of training for

         14  community- based organizations in site investigation

         15  and assessment.  This effort could be coordinated

         16  with the EDC, or the workforce development office,

         17  and the Office of Environmental Coordination, or any

         18  other appropriate agency.  The program should engage

         19  the participation of community boards and

         20  understanding environmentally appropriate approaches

         21  to revitalization to ensure that no site will have

         22  to contend with the problems of contamination in the

         23  future.

         24                 We urge our representatives and

         25  members of the City Council to consider the above
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          2  mentioned points as they seek to develop a sound,

          3  Brownfields program that considers the needs that

          4  the Environmental Justice Committee stand in New

          5  York City.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

          8  thank you.  Joel.

          9                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  Here I am.  I guess I

         10  am just going to not reiterate what everyone else

         11  said.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, don't

         13  give us the full loaf, Joel.

         14                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  No, but I am going to

         15  play the role--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Joel and I are

         17  friends for a long time, so you know.

         18                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  But I am going to

         19  play the role of being the gadfly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  What a shock.

         21                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  If the DEP and the

         22  Department of Health basically followed their own

         23  rules and regulations, I think you have a really

         24  good bill here.  Okay.  But the history in the last

         25  three, four years basically puts people in the
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          2  environmental justice community in the state, I

          3  guess, of greater law.

          4                 The New York Environmental Law

          5  Project has been dealing with many, many cases,

          6  including a case in Queens, which I think is

          7  important to point out.  PS 65Q, it is a school that

          8  was built five blocks away from an inactive

          9  hazardous waste site.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Right, Ozone

         11  Park, yes, we know it.

         12                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  Ozone Park, okay, the

         13  trouble is that this site was five blocks away from

         14  a site that has TC, Tetrachlora ethylene.  Parents

         15  of these kids came to us, saying that we are really

         16  worried, and only that we go into school below the

         17  ground.  We checked the law and the Health

         18  Department kept on coming back and saying, no

         19  problem, we are testing the air in the school, and

         20  there should be no problem.

         21                 We checked and we found out that it

         22  is illegal for kids to go below the ground.  And not

         23  only that, the EPA said that TCE is five to sixty-

         24  five times more dangerous.  So much for the Health

         25  Department and the DEP protecting those kids.
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          2                 What the Education Department did is

          3  that they basically issued a waiver saying those

          4  kids can continue to go to school there.  We FOILED

          5  the Education Department, and it took a long time to

          6  realize that the school system, itself, is hungry

          7  for these lands, is willing to bend all their

          8  environmental rules to place kids in schools where

          9  they shouldn't be.  And yet no one, and neither of

         10  these Departments have done anything.

         11                 Part of the problem with the

         12  Brownfield law in this enforcement is that the

         13  Health Department is supposed to do a health

         14  assessment.  Besides DEC coming in and checking out

         15  the soil, the Health Department is going to come in.

         16    And the case in Queens at PS 65, the City Health

         17  Department didn't even check with the pediatricians

         18  of the kids that were sick.  Upon further

         19  examination, we learned that they are checking in

         20  most of the places, so which begs the question of

         21  who is signing off on these sites as to the public

         22  health that is out there?

         23                 People have suggested here, other

         24  panels that we rely on DEP to give us an assessment.

         25  Mr. Yassky, I would like to point out that DEP has
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          2  yet to even determine if there is any World Trade

          3  Center dust in Brooklyn, okay, they still said no.

          4  They are in charge of the community right- to- know

          5  law, they have basically been telling people that

          6  they don't have to report,  there is major, major

          7  underfunding.  So we don't trust the DEP.

          8                 Not only that, when it comes

          9  enforcing the law, we are really concerned, from one

         10  of the lessons we learned from the World Trade

         11  Center, is when the cleanup took place it was DEP

         12  and the FEDS that hired contractors.  We asked that

         13  these workers be monitored, that they have been

         14  health monitors.  The City and the FEDS refuse.

         15                 One of the things we would like to

         16  suggest for this bill is that there be certain

         17  requirements as to what type of cleanup takes place.

         18    If it is not just monitoring of the site, we

         19  believe that there is not going to be sufficient

         20  monitoring by DEP or DEC, but whatever contractor is

         21  at the site, those workers have to monitored and in

         22  some ways bonded.  Well, right now, we have thousand

         23  of workers that worked at the World Trade Center

         24  that are seeking compensation, and there is nowhere

         25  for them to go.  And the City and the State
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          2  themselves are denying any of those benefits.

          3                 What really concerns us is that you

          4  have a move, and when we hear the word expedited,

          5  that gets a scad.  It is the same agencies that are

          6  supposed to enforced the public health laws and the

          7  public environmental laws, are the ones that are

          8  basically going to rubberstamp the approvals.  So we

          9  believe that there should be some provisions put in

         10  for employee protection, anyone who is working at

         11  these sites.  There also should be some type of

         12  citizen supervision.  Without a citizen supervision

         13  there is no way that someone could stop the railroad

         14  that is steaming along, evaporate, and there would

         15  be no sense of accountability.

         16                 And also, people keep on citing DEP.

         17  DEP over and over again, even at City Council

         18  hearings has told us their expertise is only in

         19  asbestos, not in all toxic wastes.  So there has

         20  been no mention here of the City Health Department,

         21  which I think they have been falling down on the

         22  job, but they should definitely be involved in some

         23  type of health assessments in the area.

         24                 When you have a Brownfield it usually

         25  means that the surrounding area in hurting.  When
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          2  those kids are in that school, the City's Health

          3  Department, like I said before said that they tested

          4  the air and it was bad.  We asked them if they

          5  tested the playground, or even the houses where

          6  these kids are living, and they haven't.  So I think

          7  it is really important to put in here some type of

          8  criteria for a full health assessment out there, and

          9  some much more checks and balances.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         12  thank you, Joel. And I want to thank all of you for

         13  coming.  Mr. Craft, you were very, very specific in

         14  your, with regard to the recommendations you had

         15  regarding the bill and like on the waterfront stuff.

         16    And we do appreciate your specificity, that was

         17  helpful, as was all of the testimony.

         18                 Ms. Masters, thank you for your

         19  detailed comments, as well.  I was wondering if you

         20  also had a written statement. Okay, we have that,

         21  okay, fine, I want to make sure that Counsel had

         22  that.

         23                 And Mr. Venegas and Mr. Alston, we

         24  would like to thank you both in a special way for

         25  standing with us during our BOA Press Conference
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          2  that we had.  I know that you were there, yourself,

          3  Mr. Alston, I know we had the representative of the

          4  Youth Ministries for Peace and Justice there, as

          5  well, so thank you for standing with us.  And we are

          6  going to get this thing done, no matter what we have

          7  to do.  And your good work in this area will not be

          8  in vain, I promise you.

          9                 And, you know, Joel, this Committee

         10  does nothing without consulting with Joel making

         11  sure that we are square with you.  And although

         12  sometimes I talk like a tongue in cheek kind of way.

         13    Certainly, what you pointed out about the

         14  agencies, as always, is very important for us to

         15  hear.  And we greatly appreciate your continued

         16  partnership, and all the issues that you have been

         17  associated with.  So I thank you for that.

         18                 And with that being said - -

         19                 MR. KUPFERMAN:  We will provide

         20  details of our comments.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO:  Thank you,

         22  Joel.  And with no one else wishing to be heard, I

         23  would like to thank everyone for coming today.  I

         24  would like to thank, once again, Councilman Yassky

         25  for his leadership, and the staff that helped make
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          2  this the good hearing that it was.  Thank you all

          3  very much.  This hearing is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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